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AUTHOR'S NOTE

Acknowledging fhe inclinatlion of the older
generation to reminisce and‘féCOgnizing the disinclina-
tlon of the younger sometimes to hear the stories, we
have arrived at this solution of the problem: We wlll
write our memorles and, though-oonsideratibn and good

manners might require you to listen, there 13 no law

which says you must read.

Donradted \a\.\ Duoone. M C Cohfne,l_\ 5-1892
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"MEMORIES, MEMORIES -
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DAYS OF LONG AGO"

chronicled by Marie
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with participation by Lovelle

v




To the Memory of our Father and Mother,
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OUR PARENTS

Pappa and Mamma knew each other, at least by sight, from
the time he was fifteen and she was ten, when they were both 1liv-
ing on farms but came into‘Homewood occaslonally. She sald that
the first time she saw him éhe told her father that 1f she ever
married, she thought she would like to marry that boy. Since she
was 80 much younger than he,lhowever, 1t 1s doubtful he even
ﬂnoticed‘her at -that time. I do not know just when they really
- became acquainted, but beiieve they were engmged for about two-
" years befofe they married. | .
Memma and her grandfather Wallace were devoted to each other,
_and during his last 1llness she spent a 5feat deal of time with him.
'appa wanted to be married on his birthday but Great Grandfather
allace; feeling that he. was not going to live long, asked her to
ay with him to the last 80, td please both, she told Pappa she
uld marry him on hls birthday 1if he would'asree for to remain
1th her grandfather as ldng as he lived. They were married on

ebruary 21, 1883, and her grandfather dled March 7, two weeks

hey moved to Homewood. ' '

Pappa was gerlous and qulet llke hls father and always read




OQur Parents - 2,

learned to be a telegraph operator and then taught each 6f his
brothers, in turn, the same work, though he was the only one who
stayed with it for any length of time. While we 1lived in Homewood
he worked at the "Summit Cut" offlice, a short distance north, ﬁﬁere
the rallroad béd had been cut thrqugh a rocky hill, consldered one
of the most critical offices in that area, During the short perlod
that a postoffice was malntained there, he was the postmaster.
Bausman's Beaver County History has thls: "Summit Cut Post Office
+ was discontinued April 20, 1892, William F. McCready was appointed
- (postmaster) December 15, 1890."

He was“something'of a perfectlonist and anything that he did,
he tried to do the best that 1t was possible to be done, so he prac-
ticed continually "sending" aﬁd "receiving" until he became so pro-
flolent he attracted the attention of the office ab Pittsburgh and
was called there to what was not.only a better posltlion but offered
opportunities forladvanoement, much to Mamma's dellght. However,
he‘man who succeeded him ét Summit Cut, through carelessness or
nefficlency, caused several near-wrecks and then one bad one so

the trailnmen petitioned the office to send Pappa baok._hThe office
eft the decision up to him and he :eturned, being too much of an
ngllst for his own materiél galn. |

In additlon to his regular work, he was always engaged in

_iqﬂwr activities. He had a hand loom for rug and carpet weaving

ioh he seemed to have no trouble selling. Thefe was & bullding
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‘the floor for inspection, and they always seemed to take one or
more. IHe was also'very inventive and patented what he called
"The McCready Improved Teﬁple and Shuttlegulde," which he adver-
tised in weavers' magazines and sold by mall.

Then he became interested in the printing business, bought
a printing press, type, and a blg paper cutter, and had a pro-

- fessional printer ocome to $tay with us while he taught Pappa the

Imow-how of operating them. The first printer was man by the name

of Barnes. I do not remember much about him except that he con-

sumed an amazing quantity of coffee from a Jjumbo-sized cup which
we happehed to have and he chose for his ownj; Pappa thought 1t

ﬁas.so much coffee that made him seem almost doped sométlmes, 80

he was not thefe»long. The next was an entirely different type,

college graduate and preclse in everything‘he did, from what I

'ave heard Mamma say. One would not think there could be much

He loved to be out in the open and to take us children

nmg. I can remember golng mushroom hunting with him ln‘Grandpa's

ture (and especilally the time when I fell in the run and was
ught home like a drowned .rat), picking flowers in the wooded
68 or rowing on the Beaver Rlver and, later, the Ohlo Rlver,

walking slong Dutchman's Run after we moved to Freedom. By
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the time we came to Florida we chlldren did such things mostly
wlth other young people, but Pappa always loved to have family
plenics, and even after we were marrled often managed to promote
them on our visits home. .i think the one they both enjoyed most
was in celebratlion of thelr Golden Wedding Anniversary when Lo-
velle and I surprised themby bringing the dinner all ready éxcept
for warming up thelr favorite meats - roaat leg of lamb for Pappa

and baked ham for Mamma - and we made a plcnic of 1it.

Although he lived té be ninety-two, the last fourteen years

he was confined to his room,'and mostly to hls bed, with rheumatold

arthritis. He would admlt, when askéd;'that he was never without
-'paln; but was one of the most patient psatients 1n the world, never

oomplaining, and alwgys'quietly glad to see U8 on our visits. Deep-

1y religlous, he spent much of his time while lying in bed reading
the bible and relliglous papers. . "

I believe Mamma was the f;nest character I ever knew, and

not just because she was our mother. Others recognized the some-
thing that made her different. Her sons-in-law were devoted to her
and she was loved or at least liked by all of her relatives and

other in-laws. In the beginning of my correspondence with her

oousin Della_Foster Young, when she asked about my parents and I
answered somewhat as abové,vshe wrotes

"All you sald about your mother was right. She was a lovely
bright person and we were all glad when she came to see us."

Children and young people came to her with thelr troubles and

problems and she, in turn, seemed to love and understand all of

the young. o

'Left motherlesé when oniy five years old, she and her gls-~

ter and brothers 1lived through a perlod of devotlon by tﬁeir father;l
though careless "care" by housekeepers and hired girls, and then "

b,




Our Parents - 5,

with a stepmother'wlth whom they were not too happy. Uncle John,
the elder of the two boys, went west aﬁd eventually worked into
the cattle business. Uncle Will, who was only a year old when
his mother died of diphtheria, became badly crippled by rheumatism
while still a baby as the result of belng held in a cold spring
one hot day by the woman who was looking after him, and he never
left home., He was killed by a train at the age of forty-two.
Aunt Margaret and Mamma took up sewlng and finally opened a dress-
meking and millinery shop in Mehoningtown, now a part of New Castle,
which they operated until Aunt Margaret married. There was never
any bittefness in Mamma toward her stepmother (nor, I bellieve, in
any of the others). She loved her father so much that she would
not have done anything to make him unhappy, and her wonderful
sense of humor seemed to easge herlover the roughvplaces in 1life.
" One of her doctor uncleskwgnted.to gsend her to college but she
refused the offer because she dld not want to hurt her father by
aocepting from his brother what he, himself, could not then give.
The only event ;n her 1life that ever seemed~too much for
her was the death of little Margaret when six and a half. I was
umt three months past four when she dlied but have several recol—
leotions of her, the most vivid being of her long golden halr.
It was not curly but Mamma aiways bralded 1it. into two bralds and
then combed it out for dress‘up occaslons such as going to Sunday
‘School, and I still remembef the way the sunlight gliﬁted on 1t.
We had both an inside and an outside’entrance to‘the-oéllaf,
the outside one having a door which slanted upward. We young-\.
sters loved to run across 1t and the Sunday before her death

we were engaged in thls pastims when Margaret slipped and fell,

and immediately. complained that her back hurt. There was no

56
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doctor in our village so the next day, when it seemed worse, they
brought a doctor from the next town, but she lived only a few days.

My memorles of the fﬁneral are very clear and there 1is a
fragrance that stlil carriés.me back to the day when the little
casket was set up in the middle of the parlor, which was banked
with flowers. The kitchen was filled with women cooking, or bak-
ing ples and cekes,; preparing to feed.the throng of people who
. were sltting and standing everywhére, in the.house and yard; for
- in those days relatives and}friends came from near and far to a
funeral. In order to get'Lovelle and me out of the way, perhaps,
Pappa took us to a nearby wqoded area to plok flowers, and 1éter
i 11fted each of us ﬁo ﬁlace our small offering in the casket. He
itold us that Margaret was teking "her long sleep." |
Rosalea was a baby not yet walking when shé wag stricken
with polio and paralyzeq from the neék down. .ﬁer mind and tongue
kept busy, for she learned to talk unusually early, but her arms
~and legs remained in the positibns they were placed. Mamma ar-
'ranged.for "0ld Mrs. Campbell;" who lived onlthe street above ours,
‘to take over much of the housework and she devoted herself to
.Hogsalea, Preceding Sister Kenny by at least elghteen years, she
used the séme methods. Practlcally every minﬁte of the time that
Bosalea was awgke, Mamma masséged and worked her muscles, flnally
bringing her through the ordeal without a trace of paralysis.

Will waé born Just béfore we left Homewood and was a little
past two when we moved to Chicago in the fell. Durlng that winter
or the early spring he bgcamé sick, I do not believe even the |
doctor lmew Just what the illness was. At any rate, the treatment
,>d1d not help and he finally told Mamma one day that he did not ex-
pect Will to be alive when he returned the next day. He left a

6o
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different medicine to be tried buty, 1f he had no falth in it, Meamma
had none, either, so she put 1t asidé and went about in her'own way
to bring him through, which_she did. When the doctor came next day
f‘and found the fever gone and the baby hungry, he sald, "Well, that
last medicine did'the trick," -and she did not tell him that the
bottle was still unopened;f“

I was another of her miracles when I had my long spell of
typhoid fever during the early spring and summer of 1902, She con-
sclentiously foliowed all of the doctor's instructions, even to
coaxing me to take the evll ﬁasﬁing mediclnes he left, as long as
he seemed to think there was some hope, but the fever became higher
and I weaker until finally one afternoon he called her 1nto the
hall to tell her to be prepared for the worst. He gald he expected
the orisis to be reached that nightznd'did not.believe I would sur-
ive 1t. Catharine was sitting by the bed fannlng me when Mamma
‘came back and, thinking me asleep, for I was too weak by then to
¢ much more than lie with my eyes closed, she told Cgtharine what
e had sald. As she had with Will, Mamma decided then to do what
he thought best and began by not worrying me with the medlcine.,

Each time she was supposed to give it, she measured out the speci-
led quantity and disposed,bf,it. My head and chest seemed to be
urning up, but my arms and 1egs were cold, so she alternately
ubbed my arms and 1egs and sponged my head and chest with cool
ater, coaxing me to drink water, which was then belng boiled,

he never seemed to stop so long as I was awake, Perhaps my own
etermination to live helped;ﬂfor I had no intentlon of dying,

ut I think 1t was mostly Mamma's determination Anyway,'thé cr;sis
Nas passed and ‘I begam to mend. | |

Mamma, herself, loved life and was interested in 1t until
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the Iast. Not 16ng before her death she made the remark that she

supposed she had had a‘hardclife,'but that she had enjoyed 1it.-

She always read the newsPapéiS each day and, as she had more time
to herself, a good bit in maéazines5'also - especially the Readers?®
. Digest, whilch was her favorite.

She was almost elghty-four when she died and, fortunately,
{waﬂ.not 111 long as that woﬁld have worried hers; always ready to
teke care of anybody else ;”and she did a great deal of it = she
never wanted to be a care h;fself. " In the end she Jjust slept away,
her beaut;ful long, thick, goldeﬁ brown hair, without a thread of
white in it, still alive andvbright about her face. We all felt
then, and still feel, thatthe world lost Bomething quite.wonderful
¥hen she left 1it. -




HOMEWOOD

The Homewood we remember 1s not the almost abandoned ghost

town it 1s today - orlss-crossed and scafred by an overpass high-
'way (1t now abandoned) snd the Pennsylvenlia Turnplke, trees gone,
and mogt of the old landmark bulldings torn down (or should be)

but a pleasant little villége of narrow rbads and paths, green

- lawns and blg trees. The church stood at the edge of a wooded area
that seemed to gilve 1t dignlty and permanence, and to the left a
path led down through the trees to the beautiful Beaver Rlver.

The trees around the 6hurch are_how gone, but the church, 1tself,

t has been renovated and is still in use. Each year there 18 a home-

ooning gathering whlch draws old members from surrounding areas and

3. other states.

Our own homg (one of the few places still maintained in goéd
oonditlion in whatlwas then the maln part of town) was on Mailn Street,
between the center of the village and the reservoir, and conslsted
-of three lots and a si#-room house, which occupled the northeast
ocorner, Our parents bought 1t on June 18,_1884,-for $l,600, from
Grandpa and Grandma MoCready, who had purchased 1t whille gﬁill liv-
ing on a nearby farm, the descriptién being as follows:

"Lot in Homewood, belng .3 lots in the extenslon of Homewood,
Nos. 7, 8 and 9. 24,090 ft. Part of a larger tract conveyed
to Joseph Smith by Wm. Grimshaw, conveyed to James Dillin and
Barbra Ann his wife by Orphans Court Mar. Term 1868 and con-
veyed by James Dillin and Barbra Ann hils wife to John. C, Chap=-
man Mar. 30, 1870 and conveyed by John C. Chapman and Ellza-
beth his wife to James Evans Nov. 8, 1871 and conveyed by
James Evans and Sarah his wife to Adam Carner Nov, 15, 1871
and conveyed by Adam Carner and Elizabeth his wife to John
Johnson Oot. 7, 1872. DBeing same as oonveyed by John John-
son and Mary Jane his wife to George E. MoCready, Apr. 3,

1875."

9.
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The front yard, though not very deep, allowed for a walk

edged with red brick corners which had become mossy green over the

I‘ " iyears, and several large and smaller trees. In the center was a
| :beautiful, tall whlite birch - a favorlite nesting place fof orioles,
which sometlimes bullt so low that Pappa could 1ift us up to look
in at the baby birds. Thiskwas flanked by two pines that looked

like glant Christmas trees, and an arbo:vitae grew at tho outer
slde of each. The yard was terraced down to a whlte plcket fence,
and along the path outside the maple‘trees were a shédy green in

- summer and a sunburst of red and gold in autumny; just before the

- leaves showered down to make a thick, lovely mass for youngsters
- to run through. A big black walnut at the kiltchen gate provided
nuts for winter evenings.

The yard was filled with fruit trees - appleé, peaches,

plums, cherrlies, and even an apricot and a nectarine tree, the

»only ones in town. A long arbor was thlckly covered wlth grape

- vines; 1n addition to the luclous Concords, there were both whilte

and red grapes, and the strawberry bed was the pride of Pappa's

-heart, The more narrow eastern side of the yérd had syripgas,

-8 blg snowball bush,.and, atvthe foot of the pump, a bed of'pur-
ple iris drank from its overflow. Bordering the house were roses,
leeding hearts, peonies, and ‘other flowers which we all Joined
jnxselecting from the sprins catalogues.

The house plan was the usual one of lts time. The main
part contained a parlor and a livlng-dining room, separated by

a wlde hallway openihs on the front:porch and from whioh'stair-
‘ways led to the second floor:and to the cellar - there was also

an outsids entranoe to the latter. The ell on the . back had a

”/
kitchen on the ground floor and a thlrd bedroom in the seoond

10-
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story. The pantry attached to the kitchlen on the east helped to
enclose the back porch, which extendéd to the parlor wall.

When we visited Homewood in 1952, the new owners, who were
Just moving 1ri, allowed us to go through the house from top to
hottom, and I was glad to see that i1t,at least, had not been al-
lowed to deterlorate, as most of the other remembered places had.
Becently Cousin Lella wrote that 4she end Lols had visited Home-
wood and found that our old home has been covered wlth Permestone

and that "It 1s beautiful."

My earliest memory ocame to me first dﬁring the time I was
i1l with the typholid fever. Just é.fter I had turned fourteen, one
of a flood of such little memorles thé.t.I kept fecglling to HMamma
80 fast and exoltedly, 1 suppdse, ‘that she would ‘get up and leave

the room because she thought I wés running my fever up. She re-

" membered thls, too, and sald I was only about six or seven months
0ld at the time and the woman was Eliza Barnes (apparently proving
the theory that everythling we evef knew 18 stored in our memories
and could be brought back if we knew how to do it) . Memma had a

- Crown sewling machlne, which did not close down but, 1nstéad, had

! box-like' cover embellished with its emblem, a golden crown.

Ellza was carrying mé but suddenly sat me down on the sewing
machine top, then stepped back and laughed. Finding myself |

marooned, I shrieked in protest and remember how Mamma caught me

off and hugged me to her. S )
When Lovelle was born I lacked a little over a month of

belng two years old and, j,ust'to pay some attention to me as she

started to leave after a call on NMemme end the new arrival,

Mrs. Tom Bennett, who lived on the street Just aebove us, asked

11.
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me what I was golng to ocall the baby. Perhaps she had mentloned
her husband, or someone had asked her about him, so that the name
‘5was fresh in my mind, for I ansﬁered "Pom." The neme stuck and
from then on Lovelle was called "Tommy " as long as we llved in
Homewood . |

My first memory of Lovelle 1s when she took over the high-
chalr end I was promoted.tO-books on a regular one. It seemed

to mé that I had never really looked at her before, and, sitting
there beside me, I noticed how her blonde halr had been brought
back from her face and fastened,‘but that there was a fringe of
ghort, almost 1nfisible haiis around the top of her forehead,

I am sure I must havé been the most trylng of Mamma's
children when little for I climbed the trees like & monkey almost
from the time I walked. She has sald that more thé.n once when my
dfess became entangled 1n the branches I managed to wriggle out
of 1t and come into the house in my banties and panty-walst,
leaving‘the dress in fheitfee,

Two of my adventures which caused considerable excitement
and trouble, I remember qulte well, though mﬁst have been‘qery,

gmaell at the times,

One was when I disgcovered that I could climb one of the
"Christmas tree" pines. Its branches, though quite close to-.
gether, grew to within my reéch and, by twlisting myself thrbugh
hemn, I could olimb clear to the spire,‘which wasg so slender
hat 1t would sway back and forth, This was the most fun I

ad found until Pappa discoﬁéred me and, through his banfer and
Memma's persuasion, I waé finally talked down. To Mamma's sug-
estlon that he ocut off thé lower branches; he demurred that 1t

ould ruin the tree. Despite her reply that she would rather

12,
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have a ruined free than a broken-backed chlld; the free was still
intact when Pappa left for work, but b& the time he returned she

had sawed off the branches I could reach so he had to bring the

other into oconformity. Not to be thwarted, 1 draéged the "rocky

horse" out, turnedilt‘up on 1ts nosges under the tree and climbed

to the back of the seat, but Mamma waswatching and came out. In

ny hurry to clutch a branch baforeAshe reached me, I unbalanced

-my base and we both tumbled over. Without a word, Memma picked

1t up and prdceeded back 1nﬁo the house, with me running after
.her, walling my frustration.

'Eﬁen before this,though, I belleve, was the time I climbed
:the lightning rod away up élmost to the eéves before 1 1ooked
-down and became scared. Mamma was attracted by ngpa's usual
‘warning 1n such oéseq, for me to hold tight or he would be carry-

ing me in on a shutter. Then, while Mamma took over and encouraged

e to Just hold on and they would gét me, Pappa ran for the tall
:ladder which the painter who -had just finlshed painting the house
- had not yet taken away and brought me down.. We never went bare-
oot as most of the children around there did, but occasionélly
fter a rain were allowed to take off our shoes and stockings

and paddle around in the puddles. This had been one of those
.;mes snd there was a trall:of muddy footprints left on both sides
f the lightning rod, so Pappa had to mount the ladder aéain with
elnt and brush to clean and cover them. '

The last of such escapades on my part, that I remember,
@least, wés a little later. One of my favorite climbing places
as the long grape arbor which was bullt of strong narrow slats
and had a ourved top. Scmetimes I olimbed ths outslde and some-

imes the inside and, on one of these latter tours, found a

13,
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thick, strong vine that could be pulled down to make a swlng in

the very top of the arbor, so I had many delightful times swing-

who had been one of Mamma's glrlhood friende (and I belleve a rela-

tive, though have not yet figured out to what extent), came to

- and lmmedlately ordered me down. She even broke off a swltch to
enforce her command, which outraged me for we were never switched.
I was then five years old and considered myself quite grown up, 80
deflantly i1gnored her, remaining where I ﬁas until she went into
. the house. Nothing was ever sald to me about the incldent by
elther Mamma or Pappa, but the next time I climbed to my swing, I
found it neatly cut through the middlel

Spring and'summer brought a heterogeneouS-proceseion of
vlsitors. There were Armenian peddlers with a wide assortment of
ltems in the packs on thelr backs = especially embroldered goods

and 1aces9 and the tramps to be fed on the back porch. It was

sald that the latter dropped .off the frelght trains and headed
stralght, for our house because fellow travelers had told them

they could count on somethlng to eat, and it seemed to be true

for they would pass right by=our‘ne1ghbors to turn off Maln'
Street to our gate.* Lovelle was hlghly insulted whan one talka-
tive old Irishmen attempted to be friendly Ey asking Mamma if
he couldn’t take her along to wash hls socks. ¥*(kitchen one)

A tribe of gypsies came each year and camped on the west-
rn outskirts of town, and children were always warned to keep
- near home as gypsles were eupposed‘to steal children. Everybody
‘;1n town made at least one trlp tc the camp during their etay,
Y and we all looked to ses 1f.they had any blonde ohlldren among

thelr black haired ones. We usually went in the early eveni f

k4,

ing away above the ground. Then Rosalea was born and Eliza Barnes,

stay with her. Eliza happened to come out while I.was in my swing
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and their colorful clothes and the way they lived always fascin-

ated us chlldren. The young men and women sometimes danced to

s

::entertain V1s1tors, while thé-sharp-eyed 0ld women accosted passérs-
by with offers to tell theirffortunes. |

Our favorite visitors,.howefer, were the organ-grinder
men and their cute little monkeys which would peer up from thelr
- tiny old-men faces while they held out thelr cups for colns.

One year a glowerlng, swarthy faced man brought a bear,
whioch he put through 1ts tricks in front of our yard. We did not
- enjoy that exeb;tion, though, for the bear was a mlserable looking
;:animal and he oruelly hit and poked 1t with a long splked pole.

A fow days later Pappa came home With word that the bear had
Amanaged to get loose during the night and had kllled the man, but
: none of us oould feel too sorry for him. | |

\ The blacksmith shop, originally buiit,and operated by our
  vgreat grandfather Joseph May Smith, was at the beginning of the
block nearer town thean our place end 8cTross the street, or cater-
- cornered from us, and was operated by Robert McKisslck, not only
- while we lived there but also during my visit-later to our grand-
- parents (now converted to a store). It was very fascinatihg to
us and we always wanted to étop and look back into its cavernous

interior; where sparks were flying up from the big.anvil and from

which such intriguing sounds‘emanated - the clinks and clanks as

he hammered, the hissing gound as he plunged the red hot metal
into the;pig vat 6f water, the nelghling, blowing and restless .
stepping around of the horses. We were Just a 1iftle affaid of
? Mr. McKlssick. hlmself, hbwemer, for he would sometimes come
3‘)out, wearing his blg 1egther é.pron9 and yell at us youngsters

ag we pasgsed. Looking back, I think now it was probably Jjust

15,
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his way of being friendly, but 1t did not seem so then. We were
i)very proud of the sleds which Pappa had made for us,and painﬁed
. red. Mr. McKisslck put the runners on, but apparently thought
he could have done the ﬁholé Job better for, when we would oc-
oasionally - pull them past his shop, he would remark in anything
but an approving tone of voice, "Great sledsi,"

Lovelle recently recalled a llttle story that Mamma had

told on Pappa. Sometimes Wﬂile working at the Summit Cut office

he would come home by train in the evening and, as Homewood was

not a regular stop for that traln, the engineer would slow down
go Pappa could Jump off. One evening theengineer forgot, but

: Pappa Jumped anyway and when he arrived home he mentioned that the

engineer had not slowed down, but didn't say anything more so
Mamma finally asked, "Were you hurt?" He replied ho, but his
ﬁignity was hurt, 1mp1y1ng that he did not lané on.his feet,

She also asked 1f I remember the knife he bought Mamma for
her protection when he was working at nlght and which she kept in
its soébbard under her plllow. It was a large dagger-type one,
his theor& belng that an intruder would be much more afrald of a
woman wlelding a knife than a gun because he would figure she
probably couild ndt hit anything wifh a& gun but would be accus-
tomed to working With 8 butchef knife. I do remember it well as
I was always so lmpressed by 1ts brightness when she would fake
1t from the scabbard fof some reason'm_pﬂrhaps Just when we wanted

to see 1it. . S o

This reminded me of a story. I have héard'Pappa and Mamma
laugh about, concerning the only time anybody'ever did try to
;Meak in. It happened one night when there were guests - a couplg

| - with a baby. During the night they were awakened by some unusual
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sound outsid.é and, slipping over td the window, the man guest saw
that somgone was Worl:ihg on the window just below. Looking around
for something to use, he siaw: the baby's 501léd dilaper rolled ﬁp
nearby so, SPreading it out,,' he dropAped it over the head below
land the man took off without even trying to be quiet. Since I now
know so much about thelr relatives and friends, I have often won-
dered which ones'thes'e guests were., |

| There was a little country school on the edge of tqwn,

but when Catharine reached'séchool age 1t wag declded to enroll

her instead in a convent school in Beaver Falls to which a Catho-
lic family in town sent thelr children. Catharine, however, became
more and more ‘unhappy with thils errangement so they had Mr, 'Smiley,
our then printing instructoi' boarder, tutor her at home for a term.
The next fall a second cousin of Mamma.'s, Annie Nﬁe, opened a
ilittle private school and, as I was then six, .Catharine and I at-
tended itfor a term. Mamma still did not think thls was what we
should have; 80 prevalled upon Pappa to ask for é transfer to a

larger town with a good échool, and we moved to Freedom.

17.




FREEDOM

We moved to Freedom in th-e‘ Zfalli of 1895 aﬁd 1mmediateiy
Catharine, Lovelle and I entered public school for the first timeﬁ,
in a term already under way, Lovelle by a new name.

Pappa and Mamma had decid‘ed that 1t was time to drop the
nick-name "Tommy" and, instead, coined the name "Eda" from the be-
ginning eand end of her first name Edwina, but 1t was always spelled
and pronounced "Ada." |
They had tentatively planned to buy a house, so surrounded
by trees it was slightly remimiscent of our Homewood p'lace, but
learned 1t was considered damp and that there had been a great deal .
Nof 1llness among families previously living in 1it, éo abandoned the
idea send rented one of two houses whlch shared a lot right in thg
heart of town, across the street from the general store and home of
gGerman famlily, the Kuhls, who owned them.

_ The twin house was occupled by the Dever family. Mr.y Déver‘
¥as & steamboat pilot; on .the Ohlo Rlver and,while we 11ved next
door, he died a hero's death after éomething happened to thé boat

: by steering it to th‘e river bank and holding it there until the

others could esocape; by then, however, 1t was too late for him and
he and the boat went down together. There were two boys in the
family, Jim, Catharine's age, and Ralph (called "Pan'" - shortened
from Pansy because his grandmother had always saild he 1ooke(_i- ],1ke
one when he was a baby), who was Lovelle 8 age.

Jim was a fine boy, liked by everybody, but was the vlctlm_
%of a freak aooident that was to affect his 1ife from then on.

1le on the school grounds, a boy threw a stone on the walk with
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fsuch force that 1t bounced and hit Jim in the eye. I can remember

!

1.
t%ow frantlic his mother was when some of the other boys brought him

;home. 'He.lost the sight of that eye entlrely and it was.thought for

SR

S

+ awhile he might lose the other, also, but it was saved for the time
;being, though he‘had to wear glasses, unusual for such a young per-
: son in those days. I have since learned that he did eventually be-
: oome totally blind.

| The houses were both bullt right to the streef line, with e
high latticed fence connectiné them and opening into a little brick-
paved oourtyard, used only for an entrance way and to draw water
from the continuous chaln type pump there.

. Freedom was built on a hill so we went up several steps to
%enter the yard, which sloped graduaslly upward to the back and ended
at a high stone wall. At the top of this wall was fhe street on
H}mich our school building stood; Although almoét opposite our

: house, to reach it by the normal route we had to.go most of the
ength of our block, up its side,'and then back almost the same
istance to fhe school. To shorten this; Pappa bullt a ladder and
- fastened 1t agalnst the wall, so all we had to do was to run up
hrough our iot, climb the 1adder and cross the street. We usual-
¥ came home the longer way,'I think, as cén.remember thaﬁ'Lovelle

and T would do a springy hop most of the way.

lovelle offered thls as ones "Further catering to our youngest gen-
ratlon (referring to rhymes mentioned 1ater),‘how about our old
chool songs or at least the chorus of it. They are probably so
uch more éophisticatéd now-a-days that they would get a laugh out
) ‘

f its

199.

Cbmplying wlth my suggestion that she send 1n~conti1butions,
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"Merrily, cheerily, march and sing,
Merrily, cheerlly, voices ring.
Oh, 'tis so delightful when we
: march in line

To see the little glrls and boys

who keep the time."
Though 1t had entirely slipped my mind untll then, I could immediate-
¥y 8ing 1t to the old tume.
Lovelle and I eéch had our first romance while in Freedom.
er's was with Carl'Mohler, a little boy in her olass at school,
ub 1t suddenly went on the rocks when he hit her during a political
argunent as to the respeoti#eﬁPresidential qualifications of Bryan
and McKinley.
' Mine was a sort of dusl affalr, with Johnny Kuhl and Georgie
reen, who were almost inseparable companions, a little older than
. Georgle's younger sister Katle was my seatmate~in school for
jome time. I knew they both liked me, but was-surprised and felt
pewhat important when Johnny's older slster Fannle told me in the

ore one day that they had had a fight about me. Although. I llked

}wm.both, Johnny was my favorlte. He was better looking, wore

cer cloﬁhes, end sometlimes gave me little pfesents - mostly candy
ut onoe it was in a little round lacquered Japanese box., Ironioc-

1y, 1t was a gift that brought our friendship to 1ts finish.

e day he brought me some llttle cardboard soldlers that I had
dmired when they were in the store window,'but either he came
ithout permisslon or stayed too long for, whlle we were up in the

ard talking, his mother came after him. She lgnored me as it I

&m not there, slapped him several times and then lgd him'homq

&the ear, berating him 1oud1y in Germsn all the time. It was 8o
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It was during the 1896-7 term, our only full one, that

t Catharine, Lovelle and I each won the award foxr highest scholast;c

‘rank in our respectlve classes, and Lovelle and I also perfeot at- |
tendance; Catharlne had. been absent two or three days on account

of 11lness. The awards consisted of books, lnscribed on the fly-

leaves by our teachers - Catharine's, Miss Watson; Lovelle's,

ilss Ross; and mine, Miss Manor. I do not remember the first names

of Miss Watson and Mliss Manor but Lovelle remembers seelng her book

in the library at Estero and sald the inscriptlion was: "To Ada

McCready, from her teacher, Carrie Edna Noss, for perfect attendance
and highest rank ln class during 1896 and 1897." Pappa worked &t
the Conway tower, within easy Walking distance from our house 80 ,
Lovelle and I usually carried his lunch or supper,'whichever At hap-

‘pened to be, to him, On the occaslon of the last day of school

je both had our halr curled and, when the man in the office with
v.im remarked on 1t, of course Pappa could not resist sayilng that
hoge ourls meant the highest rank in our claéses.

Sometimes on Sunday mornings we children attended Sunday

chool and on othefs Pappa took us on long walks, usually"’along
%

Dutohman's Run, while Mamma stayed H"ome to have dinner ready when
¢ returned, one of our favorites being fqast veal with brown

avy and Yorkshilre pudding, which nébody else ever made 80 good.
“have since thought how unfalr this was, but in those days people
id not go out to Sunday dinne;'.s 80 they had to be preparéa at home.
Lovelle and' I malntained quite an _ex’éensive .cemet..e'ry, not

n our éide of the lot but thé Dever side and there were no ob-"
otions as'they paid very liﬁtle attentlon to the yard, while we
wvays had a little sérden in the upper left hand corner and our

ayground, ﬁhich Pan shared, was under the fruit trees ocoupying

21
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1_'the rest of our slde. Some gravedecorating Wé.s cari'ied on through-
;v;\out the year; especlally for the newer gfaves, but on the two Decor-
. Katikon Days we were there, we went all out. The 1little graves vere
outlined with white clover fl‘oweré and then other flowers = loté of
ed clover with whatéver else we could find - were puton the mounds
themselves.

Mamma always had a bed of mlixed portulaca flowers and some
of these we transplanted into little containers to put on the graves.
ne day our room at school declded to hold a flower show and each
pupil was instructed td bring som'ething from home to help make up
ithe exhibif. In casting aroﬁnd to see what I could take, I decided
on a varigated portulaca; planted in a baking powderyb;’aﬁ ‘11.d, whlch

¥as on one of the graves. For some reason it had grown mai'velously

arge for a portuléca and was practically covered with the lovely
B %’red-strea.ked pink flowers., I don"t think the f:amily were ’much im-
ressed at my cholce of a lowly portulaca, so thelr amazement was
a8 great as my own had been when I brought it home again wlth the

first prize ribbon attached.

I don?t remember whether the first burlals were the several

art ofthe time we lived thex;,é, or the litter of kittens which our
oat had under the raspberry b_u.éhes and we found one morning .with'
thelr throats cut by a tomcat (we thought their father). Later,
m;other of her kittens, little "Rosy," ruﬁ' over by a s_treeﬁoar in

i

front of our house, was added. ‘ ‘
©One grave was that of a toad which either Mr. Dever or Jim

ad accidentally stuck a pitchfork into while gathering up some
ags he had Just mowed on an otherwise bare section of thelr side.

ﬁq found it sometime later, moved 1t into the shade and then sat

22,
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. grleving over 1t until the end.

My real grief, however, was over the last interment, Just
'efore; we left for Chlcago. ©Soon after we moved to Freedom, Mamma
f~had'b6ught a young goose fof Pappa®s birthday in February, his favor-
te fowl, and put 1t in a coop in the yard to fatten, but I fell in
ove on si.ght and named it Fanny (appropriately, as it turned out,
or later she lald a good many nilce big eggs), and the first thing
dia always on cdmins from school was to run up to Fanny's coop to
ee that she was all right. " I also made up a song to her, entitled’
Eanny, my goslling, Fanny, my goose," and drew and colored a plcture
f her to fit into a little flat, glass covered box-llke contalner
iiat had been one of those games where one tries‘ to work tiny shot
hto various depressions. Pappa's birthday came and went bin.t nobody -
é.d the heart to '_kill her, nor for hi-.é next birfhday, elther, but,
hen we were all prepared to leé.ve for Chicagé, something had to be
one about Fanny so, .Whiie I was at school, she lost her head, and
atharine; who had arrived home flrst, greeted me with the news.

B8 80 upset and wept so loudly and long (I was then nine) that
hink they must é,lmost have regretted that they had not planned

e way to take her along. However, Mamma gave us her head and

eet to bury and, in a pouring raln, held an umbre]'.“J'.a over us dur-
the doleful ceremony, to the great amusement of Mrs. Dever,

who of course knew the whole story. The dliﬁnei" at which she was
'gerved was even more 11k§ a funeral, though. Nobody had much to

ay. I had vowed I wouldn't eat her and had tried to get Lovelle

b to, either; but Fanhy had not meant so much to her as to me,

she gave in when urged, but I just sat there. Finally Mamme

axed me into eating some mashed potatoes with gravy, and I did

‘botween tears. Thlis brought the scornful remark from Catharine
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that I might as well eat thé devil as drink his broth, but to my
Eﬂmind the gravy was not Fanny. ‘

”“} It was during the early winter of 1897 that we made thils
move which was td change the whole course of our lives,

One day we had taken Pappa's lunch to him as usual and found
two strange men there talklng, Pappa evidently very mudh interested.
One of these, we learned, was a Doctor Jackson, and he was there to
try to persuade Pappa to attend evening lectures in Beaver Falls
“.mnch were belng conducted by Doctor Teed,.the founder of Xoresh-
anity. They were being held at the home of a McDonald family with
'Mmm he was. staying at the time, and not only Pappa, but the whole
vamily attended. The meetings, themselves, were very tiresome to us
hildren, but Lovelle and I enlarged our stock of rhymes bj learning
he streetocar ads on the trips-to and from them., -Cne of our fav-
rites was that of a tallor: . | " |

.‘"Higgeldy; biggéldy; my son John:
Went to bed with his britches on.
He was in love with thelr style, you see,
Becauge they were made by Kent, that's Me,"
other, which refutes the impression Campbell is now trying to glve
hat beans in cans began with it in 1904 (and which we stililquote
hen apropos), was
"Man wents but little here below,
But wants that 1ittle good. . :
Helnz baked beans wilth tomato sauce,
1s the dalntlest, best of foods,"
hen there were a whols serles of "Spotless Town" cards by Sapollo,.

‘guoh asg

"Ihis is the Mayor of Spotless Town,
.The cleanest town for mlles around," etoc.

On Pappa's invitation, Doctor Teed spent the last day and

night at our home befqre leaving for Chlcago and he and our parents
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‘talked away into the night. From that time it was decided that we

The Pennsylvanils Bailroad, for which he had worked so many
years, provlided a box car in which to take our household furnlshlngs
and Paﬁpa"s printing equlpment,; but the loom was left behind. Mamma
‘had developed quite an aversion to it after we moved to Freedom,
where 1t Waé set up in the attic and seemed to shake the house when
in action. Another item ﬁhét did not go;withu; was an old épiﬁning
wheel which Pappa had converted to the use of fllling the chenile
or other woof into oylinders. I have'often thought of that old
wheel and wondered which of our ancestresses had sat at it end spun
: flax or wool into thread in the earller days. |
‘o Nine or ten years later, Whilé'vlsiting oﬁr grandparents
55h1Homewood, I spent a couple of days with th; Devers. They had
k moved into another house and, in addltion to the boys, there were
%two men boarders, and all were wonderful to me. Jim was engaged

%to.Ada Sneed, older slster of a boy who had béen in my class at

® gchool (later they married), and Ralph was planning to study for

“ the minlistry.

On later trips to Pemnsylvanla we passed thr ough Freedom
;. several tlmes, but dld not stop to look around. The two school
ibulldingsrhad been torn dowﬁ and a new, 1argef'one.occup1ed the
old grounds, but otherwlse we thought the town had a raﬁher "run
down" appearance., When I mentioned this to'Effie,Foétep, who had
lived there befofe she marrled our'sgcond cousin Ralph Foster,

- she seemed sufprised end sald that land valueg were as high as

- they had ever been. .
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THE KORESHAN UNITY

The Koreshan Unilty was founded by Dr. CYrﬁS Read Teed, who
was born October 1839, near Trout Creek In Tompkins Township,

Delaware County, N. Y., 1in a small community oalled Teedsville.

"His parents were Jesse and Sarah Ann (Tuttle) Teéd,‘and hé was the
second son of %heir elght children. His mother’'s arncestry traced
back to John Reed, who camg from England in 1630 and séftied in
.Rehgboth, Mass. Jesse Teed, sald to have been a'succeésful country
dootor; was probably, llke so many in his profession then, not so

suocessful in cqllécting hls fees, for Cyrus, when eleven, left.

‘school to help support the rapldly srowlng family."Friends and rela-

tried to persuade him to study for the minlstry, his famlly belng

of the Baptist falth, but his inclinations were to follow 1n his

father's footsteps, 8o he turned to&medicinezinstead and, in 1859,

wiien he was twenty, began to study ﬁith his uncle, Dr. Samuel F.

Teed, in Utica, N. Y.

After serving with the Union forces throughout thé Civil
Wer, he entered the EclecticMedical College in New York and, gfter
graduation in 1868, began his~préctice.1n Uﬁica, However, his ex-
periences duriﬁg the war combined ﬁith his ﬁaturally religlous |
nature, it is sald, gave him the urge to help mankind mot only
physlcally but spiritually as well, so héfdpl&ed into metaphysical
regearch and, in 1869, duringia perlod of fasting and praye:; ex-

perlenced what he~always called "The I1lumination," and belleved

was a revelation of the mysterles of 1life and death and the rela-
tion of man to God. He continued his practice but his theories
made him "different" in the conservative community in whioch he -
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‘lived and eventually it began to fall off,
When he was invited to address the National Association
of Mental Scilence in Chicago, hiscﬁatural abllity as an orator

‘and his great personal magnetlism impressed the convention to such

an extent that he was invited to accept the preéidency, which he

-did and, in 1886, he and his then small number of followers left
New York and settled in Chic ago, where they incorporated the
"College of Life" under the laws of the state of Illinois. The
organizatlon was also knoﬁn as."THe Churéh Triumphant" and, two
-years later in 1888, it became the Koreshan Unity, Koresh being
ithq Hebrew translation of hls given name Cyrus. Those who jolned Ji
the community turned in all of thelr worldly possesslons and liﬁed.

'a ocelibate 1ife as brothers and sisters in a communal soclety.

Doctor made frequent lecture fours, such as the one to

Beaver Falls, and usually brought in new converts, though some ' §

remained where they were as "Outside Koreshans."

None of us would ever forgeﬁ our arrivel at Washlngton - -{

Heights. Through some misunderstanding, we did not get off at

the station wheré we were to have been met, so started out on our
own. It was a biltterly cold day and we struggled through snow and
driving winds until we were almost frozen. When Pappa stopped at

a house to inquire, we found we weTe noﬁ far from our destlinatlon, . i

- s e . W N

ut the friendly Germen woman insisted that we come in and warm

ourselves at her f1re before golng on, and we were glad to do so.
While the;maiﬁ body of the community lived at Washington_
Helghts, those engaged in printing and publishing were at Englewood,
‘cloger in suburb = of the‘city, where they had}a home as well as

he publishing house building. Publications were "The Gulding

tar," "The Flaming Sword" and "The Cellular Cosmogony," the last
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named being considered the standard textbook of the Koreshan be-
lief that all life was contalned inslde, not outslde, of the globe.
Because of his experlence with printing, Pappa was asslgned to that
part of the community®s activitles, his duties conslsting of so-
lioiting for the commerclal department, proofreadihg, etc. He

did not 1live in Englewood, however, but at Washington Heights, com-
mﬁting back and forth by traln or streetcar,

Sometimes when the printing b}flce had a rush Job requiring
the foldlng and insertion of leaflets or papers, Pappa would‘také
Lovelle and me down tb help, which was always fun for he usually
drove old Nelly at such tlmes so we enjoyed the trip down and back.
Everybody made a. good bit oﬁer us, the men at the printing office

snd the women at the house where we would eat our'dinner, though

sometimes during periods when nobody came eround so we Just sat
-mm,worked; it became a 1little tiresome. In this connection,
Lovelle recalled the first trip we made to Englewood on the street-
car alone = or so we had supposed until we got'up to change cars

at the Junctlion and spled Pappa sltting in one of the back seats,
and his sheeplsh look at béing found out. |

I had not known until I saw the map of Washington Helghts
:asit was then; which I obtalned from the Chicago Hlstorical So-
1Mﬁty, that 1t comprised such a large area, as we had always thought
of 1t as Just one of several small communitles, including Walden and
Iongwood. The map shows that in addition tb the Hilliard & Dobblins
Subdivision (where we 1lived), and Hilllard &:Dobbln‘s Resubdivision,
which adjoined in the extreme northern part of the Heighté, there
ﬁwre three other large suﬁdiVisions'- Halstead Street, Hitt's, and
Blue Island Land & Bullding Co.'s,; as well ag severasl smaller ones;

he latter including a smsall "Mrs. Hilllard'’s Subdivision® to the
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south and east. There was even a Hlllliard Avenue running from the
southern boundary, whlch apparently became Winston Avenue after a
break _at" the right of way of one section of the Chicago, Rock Ig=
land end Pacific Reilroad.

The 1ittle shopping center which we used most frequently,
and knew as Washington Helghts, was elther at the point of the |
triangle between lOlst and 102nd Streets or that between 102nd and
103rd of the Blue Island Land & Bullding Co.'s subdivision.

I cannot, however, pinpoint Longwood and it may have beén
beyond 95th Street from us and so not in Washington Helghts. - We
only ocoa.éionally made trips to Long;Wood and then mostly to buy
candy or cookies when we had a little change to spehdo there was
one kind of candy I have never sgeen 'anywhere eisé - 1little irregu-
flar drops of some dark concoction, lightly covered with a white
frosting, which sold seven for a penny, so we nearly always bdught
?some of them; and M M Walnut cakes, which Lovelle remembers &ass
"Than which there was nothing better.”

| Walden's Addition to Washington Height‘s_ seems to have been
een a part of Dores Subd.ivlsiohl, end the little rallroad station
f Walden was at 99th Street and Walden Park Way, the latter so
amed, probably, because of a narrow s8trip of publlic park between
;: it and the railroad. Love:'Lle' has always.remembered especlally
:.the violets at Walden. She expressed 1t thils ways:s "From a dis-
‘tance it was a purple mound, and even up 'cllose there was hardly

a leaf to be seen, Just flowers, the center ones wlth stems tgn
or more inches long. I doubt if violets grow better anywhere."
There  were also Wonderfui woods aroﬁ;'xd Walden, and a block some-
- whers. along ths way o;ﬁ which the trees and undergrowth were so
thick that we sometimes went exploriné - Lovelle a8 Balboa and

I as Amerigo Vespucoi.
29,
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The Washington Helghts home consisted of en estate front-
ing on 99th Street, between Winston Avenue on the east and Charles
Street on the west,; and was owned by Laurin P. Hilliard, a real
estate operator of great wealth. The main building was origin-
ally known as "The Hilliard Mansion," as he lived in it during
the period of 1891 through 1895, when it was rented by the Koresh-
an Unlty through 1902, The block on which the Mansion stood was
the eastern half,; between Winston and Oak Avenﬁes, the latter now
known as Beverly, and perhaps four fifths of it was occupiled by
the main living complex. Thé-nbrthwest fifth, separated by a
fence, had the cottage which was turned over to our family when
we entered the colony. Doctor Teed nemed the place  "Beth Ophrah"
(meaning House of Sacrifice in Hebrew) and the words were spellgd
out 1n~white stones on the lawn néxt‘to 99th Streét.

The master bullding was a large two anda half story affalr,
with a ground level basement housing a pump whioh brought up water
80 cool it might have come from a refrigerator.. The main floor
was reached by three stalrways, two of which led to a long ﬁorch
¥ith entrances to the kitchen and a hallway;'and the thi:d to‘
another hallway separatlng the two parlors, both halls having
stalrways leadlng to the second floor. '

By present standards, the kitchen was enormous, with two -

large ranges and a sma;l butler’s pantry at one side through

- which the food and dishes were convejed to the dining rooms.,

The individusl sugars and creamérs were always washed here separ-
ately - the other dishes being taken care of in ﬁhe kitchen, It
also contalned the “speéking tube" for communication with the
other floors. At first it was rather startling, in those days be=
fore radlo, or even telebhones to any extent, to be-on the second

floor, when suddenly a bodyless volce would sing out: "My-rah,
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My-rah (or somebody else), come to the tube."

There were two diningrooms, the one in the back of the bﬁild-
ing we called "the‘front diningroom," and the other, on the front,
Just the diningroom. Each'had a 1ong_table.

The first‘hallway had doors to the diningréom on one silde

and the first parlor, used .as a general living room, on the other,
wlith a door opening into Doctor's bédroom aﬁ the back. This latter
had probably been Mr. Hilliard's study or the llbrary, and had a
large open flreplace. The matron, Ellzabeth Robinson While'wé

were there, occupled the second parlor.

The rest of the house was glven over to bedrooms.

There were small, sharp gables, topped with 1little iron
grill fences, over most of the upper windows, and the roof peaked
vp three or four tixﬁes9 making nice,'coﬁcealed aréas where the older
glrls often carrled thelr bedclothes and slept on especial;y warm
nights. The mansion stood back qulite a'distgnce"from the street,

and was Teached by & white crushed stone‘driveway, which entered

block, curved toward the house aﬁd'then oleér arouﬁd it. .Anoﬁher

driveway joined this and led from the house to a Winston Avenue

ntrénceo There was also .a  foot walk from 99th Street about

he middle of the front, which led, through phe flower beds to

he house, and en ornamental iron fence emc1osed the entire block,
Just a 1little inside the lot, and accegsible from the

driveway, was a large‘two-story.building which had been the "car-

rlage house," but which we used as a general agsembly foomo

In the earlier déys church meetings Wgré all held here,

though later on an old.building down town, known as "The Rookery,ﬁ

originally a ﬁheatre of'some kind, I belleve, was rented as it o

not only haed a much larger place for meetings, but was easlly
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accessible for Just anyone to come in and listen. Doctor's talks
_}pre seldom less than two hours long, but they never added much
to my education in Koreshanity. I hardly listened excépt to dia-
gram in my mind Whaﬁ_he was séying during the tlme I was studying
that part of grammar; otherwlse I usually spent the time think-
ing of some book I was reading or had‘already read, and lat er,
.1n Estero; I spent the time planning new dresses; or something else
similarly uﬁrelated. I always wlshed I could get out of going to
them for before the long seséions were over my legé~would become
nervous from sitting so long, but they were a must, so ﬁe all went.
| The library, occupyingAthe western slde of the assembly
Troom, was well stocked with books and magazines, and most of them
good. There were, és I remember, complete sets of Shekespeare,
Dickens, Bulwer-Lytton, etc., and a greét number of histories. I
-%hould know about these fof at one time Mary Eilen Knight, the
librarian, decided I was reading too many novels for a chlld, and
ruled that I could have no more of;them until i.had read the hls-
torles; s0 she selected and handed them out to me, and I went
through all and ehjoyed them equally wlth the novels. I”;emember'
some of my favorltes were Ale#ander the Great, Frederick the Great
and his Court, Marle Theresa of Austria and Marie Antoinette, but
I didn't 1like Napoieona ' Magazines included The Atlantic Monthly,
Munsey's (different and better than the later one), The Review of
Reviews, and many more. bne item of contlinuous interest to us
youngsters during the first days Waé a stuffed pellcan mounted
on top of a high reﬁolvlng bookcase ‘in one corner, and we heard
\for the first time the rhymé'Whlch 18 8t11l used so much on post-
;%ards ploturing pelicans: "What a wonderful bird is the pelican,

" his beak can hold more than his belly cen," etc., which seemed so
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approprlate to that blg pouch.

There were bedrooms upstairs, one belonging to Sister Mary
Ellen so she was slways eésily accessible when we wanted to take
out a book.

The assembly room was also where our entertalnments were
hgld. Music wasg provlded odcasionally by & small orohestra,
though most of the members lived at Englewood so it was not the
regular thing that it was in Estero. Louils ("Louie") Boomer,
who was not a member of the’Unity but vislited often aa hls mother
end slsters were, always led the orchestra when he was there,

An wnusually talented violinist, he had sttracted the attention
of a wealthy ﬁan who wanted to téke over and finencé his musical
education at the best conservatorlies in Europe. Loule did not
socepty, however, and went into the hoﬁel business; later becom-
ing the owner of the Waldoff-Astoria in New Iérk;

Oné time the girls all made sultable costumes, half for
men and half for women, and we had a cakewalk to the rhyibhm of
Mexander's Ragtime Band. Catharine was voted the star of  that
one for her fine strong volce led the singing and she was always-

& natural and graceful dancer.

Among the entertainments that stand out in my meﬁory,.

. probably because I worked so hard to put it over, was con-

- celved by Blanche Ruth, our schobl teacher, She was the wife
of Doctor Rﬁth and had been a teacher before they came in. One
of my favorite people, both at Chicago and in Estero, she was
the most "young at heart" adult I ever knew, with an ever ready
'sense of humor end a quick laugh. We always seemed to be con-
temporaries rathefltﬁan teacher and pupil eand spent much time

together off and on during the years we both were- there. This

'
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" project was a doll show and we children all had face covers I had
drawn with crayons, except Rosalea, who was a bisque doll so had
her own face, with halr curled for the occasion,- Most of my work,’
however, was oconcentrated on the doll house, mounted on one of‘the_
zinc squares which were used. under stoves. I cut and fitted the '
parts together, laboriquslx outiining the bricks fof the‘sides and
‘shingles for the roof. There were attached porches, and lace cur-
talns at the windows. The lawn was made from pads of moss which I
- gathered here and there snd fitted together. There was even & ham-.'
- mock hung between two of the trees (broken from shrubs) around the
‘grounds.' Blanche was especlally plehsed with this little exhiblt -
‘she had furnished the lace for the ourtains -.and.of course the
guests all exclalmed over 1t.

One 1little 1mmromptu entertalnment, however, was not held at
- the assembly room, but in the parlor at Beth 'Ophrah. Lovelle and
:I had a 1little puppet show we frequently played with at our own
"cottage. The theatre was a medium sized wooden box with draw cur-
‘tains over the front which could be worked from behind, The actors
swere all little homemade gstuffed rag dolls for which we had ravel-

‘ d out ribbons to provide halr, ranging from blonde to brunette.

By wires which went thfough the top of the bom, we could meke

hem "dance," whlle we sang the songs,‘ I remember especially a

ark halred girl who wore plnk satin tights and a very short skirt
ade from a ribbon. Then there was a man doll with gray hair and
eard raveled from a rope who sat in a chalr made from a tin cup
ith a plece of cardboard inserted for back and arms,lthe whole
hing covered by a silk‘brooade handerchlef, and.rocked a baby,
while we manipulated the chalr by a wire fastened to the handle

: the cup and sang: |

LS
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"I've a sweet little wife,
She's just twenty-five;
Just ten years younger than I.
She’s fond of all pleasures
And drinks Lager beer
And often goes out on the sly.
"Sing a-laa-hoo, a-lesa-hoo, ,
Rock the dear baby and swing .
L _ it so high.
"Sing a-laa=hoo, a-laa-hoo,
Mother'll be home by and by,
"She leaves me behind
The baby to mind,
-The house in good order to keep,
But don't be alarmed ‘
For I'm sure there's no harm
In walkling out on the street.
"Sing a-laa-hoo, a-laa-hoo" etc.
One day while we were'playing with 1t, somebody, though I
‘have forgotten who, happened to come in and was so amused she in-
sisted that we give en exhibition at the main house. Arrangements
ere made to use the parlor bay window where curtains oould be
8tretched across except for the 1ittle theatre, mounted on a table,
d short curtains from the wire to the top of the theatre and
from the table to the floor, so that only the.theatre, itself,
es vlsible. Pappa was there to play the accompaniments on a comb,
d we had as an added attraction Luclle Curry. Luclle was qulte
character; & tall, angular woman whose attempts at curling her
oarge black hsalr (We‘always'thought:she was - part Indian) usually
resulted in a few wiry loops pinned in place, éo that we alwajs
eferred to unruly loops in our hair as "Luciles." She had a
whimsical sense of humor, though. One of her eyes was glass snd
one of her favorlte readings wasg, "How I came'by the eye," some=
ne explaining a "shiner" he had acqulred, but she always placed
gwr finger under her glass eye, to everyone's amusement. 'On this

ocdasién, whilelwaiting behind the curtain for her turn to come,
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she decided thaﬁ we were not rocking the chalr hard enough, so
:eached‘over and gave the string a pull, bringing down the house
as well as the cup, which fell with 1ts bright tin bottdm toward
the audiance. | |

: At the very back of the property was a long building,

part two-story end the restisingle, which conﬁained the méchine
hmp eand other wdrk roomg, one belng where clotheskwere ironed,
ﬁnle the second floor of phe central part'provided sleepihg quar-
%ers for the men ﬁho lived and ﬁorked af Beth Ophrah. Later on,
ﬂﬂgian hares were kept in'part of the one story bullding and a
fmnmrary structure in front of it.

The last of the bulldings was a small one whlch was used .
88 the school house when we first moved there, and then Victoris
ﬁmk it over for her Persisan and Angora cats after classes were
no longer held there., '

The grounds themselves were beautiful. There were several
large oak trees, one right in front of the house, and between that
mm'the street‘was a large circular arrdngemeﬁt‘of flower heds,
including many rosasg'ﬁith paths winding eamong them. Just oppo-
site the assembly room, across the driveway, wére lilacs end a
.arge round bed of lilles of. the vailey; The other corner of the
ot fronting 99th, had Quite a groée of piné trees, which, with
smaller clump at the other side and behind the asgsembly r;)omo
ere always so thrllling to me when 1oaded with fresh snow.
lthough the short driveway to Winston slopéd dowmn gradually;

he part of the lot to the north of it was terraced, so made a
ice piaoe to coast on our sleds when the snow was right for it.

The oottage on:the extreme southwest corner of the bloock,

eparated from the rest, was probably occupied by servants ‘ - -
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riginally and was turned over to our family in 1ts entirety ﬁhen’
e first entered the Unity. Soon Pappa moved to quarters over

he laundry, where he had room for.wérking on his temple and
huttle guldes, etc., and thén Doctor Ruth and Blanche took over
wo of the upstalrs bedrooms, but Lovelle and I still hed the

ther one until a fire caused us to move temporarily to another
lace on the back of the lot on Charles Street where the house
ventually known as Blanche Ruth's cottage was. When the firemen
eme, the flrst thing some of them did was to begih to throw every-
hing out Qf the windows, including our most prized toys - a palr
f gray cloth covered plaster of Parls donkeys, whose heads hung

n hooks so that they moved up and down when the donkeys were
ushed or pulled. Later, we grieved to find them crushed beyond
epalr.‘ The bullding was only slightlj damaged by‘the fire, so

e soon returned to it but as by then Cathariné had joined Imogene
and the other girls of her group af the blg house, not only the

3

econd floor was taken over by others, but 3136 the front room

ol

on the main floor, so Lovelle and I slept in a double bed in what

ihad originally been'the living room, and Rosalea in a smaller bed
slde 1t. It was durlng thié‘period that I entertalned the others
.ﬂlserial bedtime storles, made up as I went along, though I now
ubmber nothing about them except that the hero in oneiwas named
Janonda and . the heroiné Emeralda., I have always been an‘early
leepyhead so after awhile I wouid begin to drift off on "and,

'and, and," only to be brought back with a jerk by Lovelle and

galea in unison with a loud "and WHAT?2" Sometimes Rosalea did
g0 Yo sleep first and lost the continulty of the story, so she
2had to be brought up to date before we could continue the next

vening. Lovelle recalied these story-telling sesslons, saying
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that she and Rosalea would be hanglng on every word and there I

| was going %o sleep.

There was a storm entrance at the front door of our cot-
tage and a much larger one at the back.  In the latter was the
flight of stalrs to the first.floor, and the few steps necéssary
to enter the basément, Whichhwas elmost ground level and divided
into three rooms. The flrst of thesge we children used as & piay
room aﬁd the mlddle one containedthe bake shop, which Mammé took
over and baked the bread as her maln duty since she could do that
and still look after the smaller children in the same house. The
third room was the unfloored callar type and was used mostly for
storage and for Lovelle's and my white rat cages, which ultimately

overflowed into the front room; also. Someone had given us three,

which we christened Dreyfus, Cleopatra and Fern. From somewhere
Tappa dug up quite a large wire cage and then made a revolving
ﬁheel so they could exercise, it was llke a 1érge‘tin can with
hbout five round holes in each end for entrance and exit, and
iong slits cut in the maih_part, with the edgés turned outward,
kaing running in it easy and comfortable; A wire through the
}enter sﬁspended 1t in the cage, and I have often awakenéd in the

1y

nlght to hear 1t humming as the rats took thelr nocturnal work-

outs,. At first we spent a good bit of time Wétohing them for,
xcept for thelr unsightly tails, we thought them just as cute as

ecame rather tiresome. Algo, Mamma objected to their smell so
380‘
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-near to the bakery, and then, to top if off, a few got away from us
gomehow and we began to see white and dark spotted rats running up
the ropes of the dumb walter sometlmes if we happened to open the
door, 8o, when Pappa suggested that he take a few at a time down
town and try to sell them, we were only too happy to agree. He

put a few in a small cage 1n the printing office window and, to our

amazement, they sold like "hot cakes," even to old Dreyfus, who had
developed a goitér.on his neck and become mérose so that we had not
thought anybody would'want'him; When cleaning the cages, we would
j..drop the rats into a barrel which we had for the purpose and,

" glnoce our reaches were Short, sometimesa Just caught a bunch of‘ -
' fur and pulled 1t out. The only one to resent this was Dreyfus

“but, although he would crouch down'as low as he‘cquld and look

mean, he never blt elther Lovelle or me. Howevef, one timé when

Ada Grier was wilth us, she thought she mightJbe able to reach . |

- him better, but as soon as her hend came near enough he sank his

- teeth into her fingérs.

Our cottage frbnt yard had'a tall pine tree, deco:ated

¢clear to its top, in season, by the orange-red blossons of, a

trumpet vine which grew near 1lts base, and there-were two kinds of
flowers that we children, at least, had never seen befo:e.- the

vellow California poppies iﬁ the front corner of-tﬁe other s;dg,l

and the big, thick,velvety red cockscémbs,iwhich“neVer seemed to
rightfully belong on a plant.

The front part of our lot was sepdrated from the other

oneé by a double up~and—§own board.fence; something llke a wall

ag it héd a top whiohbcould be walkéd on, and sort of undulated
‘upward with a couplé of curved steps to & big open shed.on the

other glide. ‘Th;s ghed roof was ohe of our play plgces as 1t
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was almost flat and well sheded by a walnut tree nearby. I still
-love Virginla creepers because of the one which climbed the back
part of the fence and along the front'edge of the roof and was al-
ways 80 bright red in the fall. The shed and walnut tree were in
& kind of corridor formed bj our fence én one slde and the.western
wall of the assembly room 5n the other, and Lovelle recalled the
tall apple tree, also in it, with blg green apples which made

such deliclous applesauce phat she still thinks it was the best

she ever tasted.

.The rest of the strip along the western or Oak Avenue

part of the grounds, not occupled by our cottage and its yard,

had been devoted to frult trees - just pears,; as I remember, a
trellls for grapevines, and some garden vegetables. The only tlme
I ever saﬁ‘artichokes growlng was along thewstern fence, or as-
paragus - though thils bed was lnside our part of the lot and was
no longer used or cared.forf :

Each year beds of radlishes, onlons and parsley were plant-
ed; the latter two belng used excessively in soups, we children .
thought. Susie Ehrsmen was the main cook and when i1t neared noon
we would often run into the kitchen to ask what we Weré going to
ave,Athough I don't know why we bothered for her reply was 1in-
ariably the ssmes "I neffer tell;" to which we would grumble,
'Probably parsley soup." .
Between Oak Avenue and the nexﬁ block, the other half of
the Hillierd estate, were the tracks of the Pittsburgh, Cinclmnati
& St. Louls Railroad, now owned by the Peﬁnsylvania Railroad.

‘Its right ofjway was always a source of fun and pleasure for us |
Muldren; In the spring 1t was covered with bluebells, lilies of

the valley and other flowers, and a little later we gathered and
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te the wlld strawberries that gfew 1ﬁ such profusion - tiny,
but unusually flavorful, and sweet as sugar. In the long winter
months, the 1oﬁg frozen ponds at the sldes of the tracks provided
fine skating. Sometimes the‘winds from the lake were so strong
we had to bend at right angles to_make ogr way from one end to
the other, buﬁ then all we had to do'was to stand up and keep oﬁr
feet pointed the right way and. the wind carried us back with no
effort at all on our part. |
Our real playground in warm weather, however, was the
block on the other side of the rallroad right of way, which had
originally been the farm. . ‘ ‘
At the southwestern corner of the block, 99th Street and
Charles Avenue, was "Aunty Browﬁ's Cottage," occupied when we
first knew it by a group of women who éeemed to 1ive rather in-
dependently of‘themaln house, and the matron ﬁas an old lady whose
last name was Brown. I knew 1t much better latef on as "The Child-
ren's Cottage." Behind this ooftage was a large, barn—like,'two-
tory bullding, the lower part of which was the laundry where

ovelle and I helped Thomas Bedam hang up the clothes on washdays,

and the upper floor_mostly for storage, other than the section

here Pappa had his living quarters, and I spent many hours with

im while I Wasiliving at the children's cottage and when he was

ot at Englewood. . A
On the other side of the block, next to the rallroad,

a8 the barn where the two farm horses and Nellie, Doctor Ruth's bug-

& horse, as well as' the cows, were kept. From the barn to the

back of the lot was a strip of tall oak trees and, adjoining it,
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where we children were sometimes called upon to help plant corn,
tomatoes, green and wax beans, etc.; and later on to assist in

)the harvesting; though I denft remember that thils applied to the
field of muskmelons, we sometiﬁes harvested one or more of those
without being asked.

The osk and frult tree:areas were our mailn 1nterests.

‘We played hosplital under the apple trees, our patlents bhelng

apples fastened together'- a emall one for the head and one or

two larger ones for the body (depending upon whether a child or

‘8 grownup), with stick arms and legs. After we had our hospltal
satisfactorily fllled, we then proceeded to operate on brulses,
“worm holes and other defects.

When the horses were not otherwise in'uee,iwe sometimes
:rode them,. usually barebaek.or with juSt a blanket, along a path
geparating the apple trees from. the oaks.

Or we made Indian villages under the oaks, the tepees
‘covered with corn husks, and the indians themeelves made of acorns
aand gticks with cornsilk heir and Warlocks, More often, hoWever,
we would Just lie for hours at a time watching the various‘eolonies
f ants - blg and little black ones, and small and smaller‘red ones
= carrying on their multitudinous activitles at the bases of the
rees. They would build their homes, entering through holes or
:etween roots, carrylng out plles of sawduet, and carrying in their
fupplies of bugs and worms. Sometimes one kind 1nvaded‘the home

;f another, and then 1it Was bodies of the victims Which were
parried out and dumped in a pile, or some of those which had es-
oaped death frantically trying to save as many of the white eggs

a8 they could.

Although Elizabeth Roblnson was the matron, our eontacts
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were mostly with Chrlstine Hamllton, the assigtant matron, hef,

~ Danish accent still slightl& discernable. One of her beliefs was
that "Chlldren and dqgs,are all right in thelr place, but their
place 18 not 1n the house,"” émd‘I often wondered 1if she had held
the same bellef when her two daughters; Linda and Miherva, were
small., ' A ' |

There were two dogs at Beth Ophrah at the time. "Queenle,"
a cream colored great Dane, owned by Mary and_Libby Macomber, was
regularly fed, bathed, walked, and kept in the house. "Duke,"

a bié tan mastiff, though of course fed was otherwise pretty much
on his own and, like us dhildren, was not allowed 1n the house by
Christine. ‘ | |
| Doctor came out one cold wihter day when Lovelle and I
were sltting shivering on the porch while we Waited for the dinner
5bell aﬁd asked why we ﬁere not lnside. When Wé told him we were
not allowed 1n untll the bell rang, he sald, "Well, I know one
place you are allowed. Come with me, " and ledAthe way into his
room where, by the brightly burniné fire in the grate, lay Duke,
coqurtably dozing,' Doctor then went to find Ellzabeth and gave
Instructions that we were not to be kept out at any time, After
fhat Christine scowled at us sometimes, but never sald anything.
We chlldren had a great affection for Doctor in those
days. We would always run to kiss him when we were playing near
the Winston silde of the lot andvhewould come 1n that way from the
99th Street car stop. Even after I went to fhe children'S‘cottage
and would see him coming from the Walden station alone, I Would
run out to kiss him, and then we would Walk together as far as the
fnnlroad tracks, he with his arm around my shoulders.

Victoria; "Pre-eminent," or head woman of the organiza-
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tion, unlike Doctor, was rather '"standoffish" and not a person to
/ﬁwhom ﬁe children, at least, could feel near. Very "finished,"
aocordihg to the standards of the déy, she devoted a great deal

of time to the older girls, glving lessons in drawing and paihting,
embroidering, and 8inglng to those whose volces showéd promise;‘
Catharine, who had a beautifﬁl volce with an unusual range, was
her favorite'pupil in the voice classes énd the only one she con-
tinued to teach long after we all went to Estero. ©OShe always ate
in the front dining room wifh.qutor and certaln others, but'aﬁ
noon she had only the older glirls, that she might teach them table
menners. Ruth end T iNina‘had not yet come) were not included in
the other classes, but were in this - which made me anythlng but
happy for she also used the occaslon to 1ecﬁure me on anything she
had seen or heard about that the childfen had doné of which she or
*k«ﬁsomeone else had not approved. I always bore the brunt of this
because Ruth, who was then 11v1n3 wlth her mother in thelr own
home further down 99th street, was not always there; also, her
nother was a speqigl friend so Rﬁfh was more or less of a pet-

with Viectorla, and'even when she was at the table Victdria seemed
to direct her talk to me; nor were Lovelle and Ada, beilng stlll
younger, there to take their share. ‘

Andther sufferer was Myrah Hunter5 a’quiét glrl with Big
brown eyes, and when Victorla wouid suddénly turn'to her for one
reason or another, poor Myrsh would r01l'her eyes'upward_and gulp
down whatever she had in her mouth, often a bite just taken,

Viotorié also coached us on our "spééches,“ which We‘we:e
called upon to give at our various entertainments, and actuslly
ruined me for ever sgpeaking in publlo, though in school and Sun-

day school.activities before we came in, I had loved to glve
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"recltations, and e#en the firét-part of the time we were at Wash-
lngton Helghts. She ﬁould pilck out words which she said I used.
with a "Pennsylvania accént,".though I could not see that I sald
them any differently. than anybody else, including Catharine, whom
she never accused of such an accent, and~certa1nly I did not use

8 Pennsylvania Dutch accidenﬁ for I had never agsoclated with any-
one who did and, at that time did not eveﬁ guspect that we had
Pennsylvania Dutch ancestry. After a few such sesslons, I develop-
ed a horror of having to go Sn the stage alone, and my last time
was to give "The Schooner Hesberus," Victoria, who was very
emotional, sat in the front row and I could see her dabbing at her
eyes frequently. Afterward she came to me. to say that I had done
it beautifully, but to me 1t had seemed that I was doing it auto-
‘Patically and that it would never end. 'From then on I absolutely
fufﬁefused to go on the platform except as part of a group. |

- Lessons that I did enjoy, however, were the French ones.
One of our‘members was Lucle (pronounced "Lu-see'") Borden, who

as herself French or of French extraction, and had taught the
ubjectAat Wellesley, an exclusive women's college in Wellesley,
hhss,, founded in 1870; and, incldentally, the one ﬁhich all the
ewaéstle‘Wallace daughters attended. The program began wlth
ﬁssons taught by her to the older gifls and then they, in turn,
Bie to givéithem té'us younger ones, though I believe that Imo-
Ene and Catharine Wefé the only onés who did. After we became
omewhat proficlent, Lucle began tasking us fof long walks, dur-

ng which nothing but French was used , and I, at least, looked

orward to these walks with great enthuslasm. Nina was hardly
688 Interested, but was more timid about talking than I was.

wle gave me a wonderful French-English dictionary, which Nina
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later borrowed and stlll has, for she has mentioned it in her let-

. ters occasionally -~ especially Jjust after World War II whenshe met

a younngrench girl - though, as she remembers i1t, Lucie géve it to
- her, | '
When we became owﬁers of our own blcycles, our trips were
exteﬁded further than. to the little shopplng centers. We especial—- ' i)
ly liked to go to Beverly Hills, where there were nice homes and : jj

gently rolling hills, and to Morgam'Park. There was a military

acadeny at the latter which Harry Boomer ettended before he ran
sway to Join the Spanish American Army band, énd also a long steep
hill that we loved to coast down. We had to walk and push our
bloycles to the top, as 1£ was lmpossible to pédal them, but the
ride down was a real thrill - faster‘and faster, and then across a
road at the bottom. If traffic . then had been an&thing like it 1s
now, our careers would probably have ended &t Morgan Park. For- -
tunately for ug, the few automobiles around Chicago then were

mostly electric and confined to such places as Washington Park,'

as far as we ever sew, and we never happened to collide with any- . &
thing else, In order to be with us more on Sundays and to accom-
pany us on trips, Pappa, who had never ridden a regular bicycls : ;ﬁ

(though Lovelle remembérs he sald he had when‘young on one of

those with a blg wheel in froht and a tiny one behind -~ which was
probably the one that hadibelonged to Uncle Walter and was still

at the house when I visited Grandpa and. Grandma as a girl - and

in fact did ride a short distance on one at Beth Ophrah), brought -
one that was at Beth Ophrah to thé'house.whére We;weré 1living on . fg

Charles Street and 1éarned to ride 1t in the cow pasture next to

our place. She also recalled how we worrlied about him at first o

when crossing ditches on the narrow planks provided because he . S

ke, ' | !;i
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wobbled so we were afraid he might run off, but he never did.
'After he had acqulred enough self-assurance, he would take us on

long trips to some of the parks where we could not have gone alone.

After the Griers céme with their daughter Ada,; two children
with the same name caused confusion, as they were the same age and

together most of .the timeyé especlally after I went to the child-

" ren's cottage. Ada was the youngest of the family and pretty much

a8 law unto herself 8o, when somebody would go to her mother about

- some 1little infraction of the rules, whether Lovelle had ﬁaken
-part or not, she was always}included, and Tillié'Grier, a sldw
:movins, slow speaking little woman, always referred to them as
}"The Two Hades." As Ada was not Lovelle's name, anyway, 1t was
1declded to use her éecond one,; and that was it frqm then on.

The Uhitj attracted all kindé.pf people; gome for reasons
other than the bellefy; and Madam Diss de Barr ﬁas one of these,
kShe was a very large woman with straw colored hairA(though per-
;haps not naturally éo) drawn stralght back, and a florid cbmplexion,.
who wore a full biack dress, gathered into the neck, and twd con=-
: tinuous 8ilk scar#eSvarouﬁd her neck, reaching préctically to

-the walst; one white and the other orchid in color. She came with
the announced intention oprutting a considerable.amoﬁnt of money
:into the coffers, always Weicome information to Do&tor who had
'many needs for funds. She was also an intefesting ahd, apparentlys
interested talker, so Was glven the red carpet treatment when

she first came, one of her speclal friends”being Mfs. Boomer.

‘¥We all called her Jjust fMadam" and she Went out of her way to be

ice to us children, even to plopping her great bulk down on the

80 she was always.included in the kissing when she went down town
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and came home with Doctor. She would get the older glrls linto

her room in groups to tell them tales of her travels in India,

etc., and welrd stories of supernatural experlences which, when

- Catharine repeated them to Pappa and Mamma made them warn her to

be very careful with the Madam and, sure enough, it was not long
untll she beganAto try to:talk two or three(of'the girls, includ-
Ang NMyran Lane and Catharine, to leave Wiﬁh‘her. when this became
known, her popularity lmmedlately plummeted, though she stlll
stayed on a little longer.

Then one day while Lovelle, Ada and I were playlng in the

" yard to‘the back and west of the kitchen, we were attracted by a
~commotlion, and there‘came.Madam, tumbling down the-kltchen stalrs,
with Mrs. Boomer runnlﬁg down aftéf herg evldeﬁtly having trled to .
stop her before it could happen. MNadam was drunk, an unheard of
happening in the Unity, sd the ﬁext‘morhing“she'was hustied away,
not to return.

‘When 1t was decided to convert Aunty Brown's cottage into
‘8 ‘home for the children, I volunteefed as a member,'but Lovelle re-
-mained with Mamme, who had been promised by Doctor before she

would agree to odme in fhat she would never be required to give

up her children, and this promlse was kept, but I was always of an
‘adventurous nature and this would ‘be somethlng new.

| One new experience was that we had our own kitchen at the
cottege and most of us learned how to dd.g1mp1é cooking.

We also became acqualinted with Mafy‘and Julla Wright who
‘had Just come ih with their parents. Mary was about my age, a
iquiet blonde, already éuffefing from tuberculosis, we learned.
(later. She had a gultar Which she strummed while we sang, or play-

ed 11ttle pleces for us, our favorite being "The Spanish Fandango.?
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The Wright girls did not come to Estero with our gfoup, but re-
mained in Englewood with their mother until the last cfowd came
and, meanwhlle, Mary had dled.

Sister Fannle (none of us remember her last name) was the
matron and Sister Elzinsa Woodbury assistant matron. Although we
all 1liked Elzina, Farmie seemed to Tub the older girls the Wrong
.way and before long Buth snd Nina moved back to the mansion. I
stayed but maintained-my indepéndence and, in addition to the time
' I would spend with Pappa in his quarters.behind the cottage when
he happened to be theré, I would go up to see Mamma nearly every

. afternoon for awhile. Fannie objected to thls,though it did not
interfere in sny way with my duties, and finally complalned to

Elizabeth Robinson who weht to Mamma about 1t;‘but Mamme an-

nounced that when things feached the point Where'I could not come
to see her when I wanted to, she would take-me aﬁd 1eave; which
ended any further attempt td interfere.

Nine end I chummed together a good:bit,~off and on, and,
while she was still at tﬁe cottage, we embarkéd on the project of
collaborating on a novel, writing alternaté chapters, which con-
tinved for a good while after she left as Pappa obligingiy carried
ﬁw ever larger manuscript back and forth when he went to his

meals at Beth Ophrah.

. About the same time we also began.a chrespondencé in
ﬁwnch, each taking what we considéred.a'rather "sissy" man's
“’;amei She was Percival, or Peroy, and I Reginald, or Reggle, a
nickname that stuck with me for many years, Catharine and Lovelle
both 4sing 1t, though Lovelle always pronounced 1t "Rlggie.'

Even Memma called me Reggle sometimes, Pappa acted as the post-

man in thls case,; too..
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Then Aone day Doctor, who had Just réturned from a visit

' o the colony in Florida, announced at a meetling called for the

: purpose, that he 'would like volunteers, éspecially among the young
people, to Jjoin the Florida part of the Unity, and from then on |
everything was excltement and many .d.ecid‘ed to go, Catharine, .

. Lovelle and I among them.

’

During the summer of»‘1919, while in the Chicago area,; we
.drove out to Washington Helghts to see the old place and found that
the mansion grounds ﬁad been cléared of the 0ld bulldings; lnstead,
i 8 row of small hdmes ‘f:'aced 99th Street and another Winston Avenue.
Our cottage was unchangéd, and theAbl.ock contalning the Aunty

Brown cottage and thé ferm remained the same, even to the sweet
cloﬁer that grew so high along the fence - 1t was Jjust as high and

Just as sweet.
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ESTERDO

In 1884 én 0ld German farmer, Gustav Damkohler, and his
famlly homesteaded a tract of land along the Estero river and
then added to it by purchasing sn adjoining one. His wife and
two of the children died of a féver, but Elbert, a young son,.str—
vived and the two of them continued to live on their property.
Then, in the early 1890s, Mr. Damkohler became converted to Kor-
eshanity and turned his property over to Doctor who, bj that time,
was planning to establish his growing colony in a home of their
ovn. On January 31, 1894, a pioneer party of sixteen members
left Chicago and began'the‘long trip by slow train to Punta Gorda,
then the terminus of the Atlantic Coast Line Bailroad, and from
} there, first by sloop and then by skiffs, to Joln the Damkohlers
and begin clearing land and constructing the bulldings necessary
to house themselfes and the others to follow. The first finished
was‘"the log house," still there, and Pappa's home during his en-
tire life at Estero. |

The experiences of this first group are well Written up
in "A Yankee Plomeer in Florida,“ by Allen H. Andrews, one of
them. He also has a detalled account of the "Geodetic Survey,"
made in 1897, which those who took part were convinced proved
the theory Doctor had evolved during or foilowing'his "T1llumi-
natlon" that all 1life exists on the 1inside rather than the out-
glde of the earth. The instrument used was called "the fectil-
inator," a model or part‘of which 1s still in exlistence at Estero.

Other propertieé were goon added to the Unity's holdings,
including longstrips of beach on Estero and Blg and Littlé Hiékory

lglands, and still later a tract at the mouth of Estero River and
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Mound Key, both nbw parts of the Koreshan State Park.

Mound Key 1is coﬁprised of nearly 140 acres of shell mounds
a mileuand a quarter from the tip of Fort Myers Beach and about a
half mile west of the entraﬁce to Estero River. Frank Johnson ac-
quired 1t by a land grant whiph was silgned by President Harrlson
in 1891 and he, his wife, two sons and two daughters lived there
and supported themselves by flshing and growlng winter vegetables.
I remember Just one time when Mrs. Johnson came up to Estero, but
we often saﬁ Mr. Johnson and the boys on trips to and from Fort
Myers, either'there or sométlmes around the docks at Punﬁa Rassa.

There was a very interesting article in the "all Florida"
~magazine several years ago. I do not have the author's name, but
.he had made a personal trip to see it and the substance of his
story was somewhat as follows:

The mounds on Mound Key -are entirely man-made of shells-

4gathered from the waters of Estero Bay by a. very ancient people
who are sald to have inhabited it as long as 1,500 years before
Christopher Columbus reached this part of the world. It'istnot
known who they were, but from the simllarity of fhe mounds .to
thoseﬂof the Mayas 1t 1s thought that a colony of these peoplé
drifted northward with ﬁhe‘prevailing winds and the ocean cur-
reﬁt from the Yucatan Peninsula to bring theilr peculiar civili-
zation to the Florida aréa; This %as first polnted 6ut by

Dr. Frank Cushing, a noted archeologlst connected with the Unl-
versity of Pennsylvenia. He also noted that arts,of'fﬁ;s.kind
have nearly always traveled by sea,.not‘land. | o
The higﬁest,'or”témple mound, rilses 60 feet and has a

. square base measuring an even_l50 feet on each of its sides,

three of which are steep and the other sloping gradually to
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face the rising sun. The top is flat, as are the Maya temple
mounds of iucatan, rathér then pointed as are those constructed
by the Egyptlians. ..

Still discernible afe the remains of what was probably
once a wlde "Grand Canal," from which a path led to the theatre
‘mound where 1t 1s supposed religlous pagemnts were staged and
watched by spectators on.a plateaun constructed.for the purpose.

To the northeast of this are the many smaller mounds on
which the people lived and burlal mounds where they were interred.

There 1s some conjectﬁré that the 1sland was used by a
Spanlsh mission in the early 17th century, énd a more fanciful one
that its first inhabitants may have been refugees frdm the lést
continent of Atlantis which is believed by some ﬁo have been east
of the east coast of Central America; that, as the Atlantans real-
1zed thelr land was'sinkiné into the sea, the& sought new homes
eléewhere, taking thei; customs énd arts wlth them.

At any rate the first known inhabitants of ﬁhe Florida west
coast were the Caloosa Indlana, a peéceful, industrious people who
used the conch shells to make their houséhoid and farming equlp-
ment, fitting them wifh wooden handles. Some of thelr clothing was
woven frbm the fiber~of palms‘and thé yucca plant, which 1s not
native to Florida but is to the Yucatan Peninsule so supposed to
heve been brought from there., The last of.thé Caloosa Indians had
been thought to have fled to Cuba more than 250 years ago from Key
Weat but, in 1903, it was reported that there was an~Ind;an'tr1be
living on a remote hammoqk near Cape Sable, whose language, clothes
and wéy of ‘1iving resembled the Caloosas,

Allen, in hils brief story of Mound Key, sayé that gold

beads, Spanish coins, cennon balls, a sword hilt, glazed crockery,
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8llver plates and other items show anclent opanlsh occupancy, and
he also tells of human bones of greét size having been dug from
one of the burlal mounds, indlcating that the ownefs were of glant
helght, but they crumbled 1mmediate1y, only the‘teeth remalning.

As the cannon balls, coins, etc. mentioned by Allen certain-
ly seem to confirm the Spanlsh mlsslon conjecture, might not the
glant bones which crumbled immedlately conflrm the Atlantis theory,
the Mayas having been short in stature?!i The 'author of the maga-
‘zine story soliloqulzes at the end as to whether in unearthlng
the secrets of‘Mound Key the riddle of a lost continent might be

solved,

I have no ;dea how many théreAwere in our party, but I do
know thaf our car was fllled with women and girls and the men énd
boys were in another one behind ours. They were day coaches but,
most of us belng young, we managed to sléep Well enough durlng the
the three nights 1ying on the seats with'pillows for our heads,
and‘walking around outside at the main StOps'gavg us some exer-
clse, Howéver, all were glad when we réached Punta Gorda énd the
g8loop walting to take us to Punta Rassa, and from there to Estero
Island where we spent the night before being packed into row boats
for the journey up the Estero Rlver to our d:estineax‘r,ion.j Thé mon-
otony of the mangroves everywhere4in'the bay and lower reaches of
the river were disappolnting to.-me so I could not be very enthUs-
lastlic .when Doctor,; who was in the same bqat I.Was, kept saying,
i"Isn't 1t beautiful?" However, asiwé progressed, I could, for
Estero River 1s the most écenic stream I have ever known.

When we finally cllimbed out on the "Bamboo Landing" at
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Estero and 1ooked around, 1t seemed that we had really entefed a
new world. The grounds were attractive with thelr, to us, unusual .
trees, shrubs and flowers but, with the exceptlon of the plcturesque
log.bne, the houses were ﬁgly, black, unfinlshed shells. Dominat-
ing the others was the Big three-story bullding whlich was the center
of the'colonY's life. The-ground floor of the main part was the-'
dinilng and general assembly room, with the women's dormitory on
the second and the girl's on the third floors. The wing on the
back sontalned a combination hallway and butler's pantry and the
kitchen with 1ts two blg wood-burning ranges; From the hallway
part there,was‘a door to a‘porch oﬁtside and a stairway leading to
the second floor. The rest, or butler’s pantry part, had a long
table in the center where food was depoglted by the cooks, dished
up by others assigned to that duty, énd passed fhrough windows to
the shelves inside the dining room where,,iﬁ'turn, the dishes were
pleked up'ﬁyboy'waitersand carried to‘the broper tables, known as
the First, Second, Third, etc. Sisters' and Fiiét, Second, Third,
etc., Brothers. There were two tables for the children, one for the
girls and fhe other‘for the boys, each headed by one of the women.,
Just ab&ve the Eenter table in the Butlef'é pantry was a two-tier
storage shielf hung from the ceiling. .In oné corner was a cabinet
covered with fine-mesh wire nétting and,under the stalrway, the
bread slicer. |
Catharine and I both sat at the Third Slisters' table, which

BeatedAabout twelve of the older girls, and had a room‘togethér on
the third floor in front. Lovelle was with the children.

| Each of ﬁhe two floors above the kitchen had one bed Toom,
the one on the second belng Mammafs for most of'her life there,

though she had first had a place in the women's dormltory.
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There was also a one-gstory attachment beyond the kitchen
where the baking was done and a long storage pantry to one side,
both opening into the kitchen. The little bakery room was rather
lsolated from the rest of'the house and had a separate small
stove-so the young people sometimes used it for clandestine get-
togethers to cook welners and make coffee, or fix up other little
snacks. Later a two-story bullding was constructed not far from
the kltchen with living quarters on the second floor and the first
used exclusively'as a bakery,_the blg oven beiné bullt into the
back.,

There were no partitions in the dormitories except the

iw/~//”’”“’
“little "room, Each had a long shelf With a row of pegs underneath

covered by a curtain and a homemade Washstand, also curtalined.

equipment consisted of a pltcher and bowl or basin and two pails,

e e e - o

used. Later, When the flowing wells Were brought in, a community
it T

washroom was built in each dormitory and the Water piped up, Which

did away with at least the first of these chores.

There were no window screens, but each bed had a "mosquito

bar" suspended over it - a frame covered With cheesecloth 1ong

[R—

enoughﬂtoﬂtuck VVVVV under the_ mattress Which,’at first9 was a tick

filled With pine needles, go the insldes of our Wrists were always

speckled from reaching through the glit, left for that purpose,
to stir the needles sround. Sometimes in the mornings we would
find the cheesecloth practically-covered’With mosqultoes, and more
than once I awokevto.see bat clews and, more indistinctly, the bat

. 1tgelf hanging to the screen.

Usually a barrel rocker completed the furnishings of each
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room, and these were surprisingly comfortable unless one rocked
too hard; then they always toppled over. |

When the last of the Chicago contingent moved down, bringing
several carloads of furniture, including many beautiful antiques,
the rooms began~to lose some of thelr ploneer appearance.

The chlldren's coftage, a two-story bullding, was some
little dlstance to the west of the main house, the first floor
occupled by the glrls and the second by the boys, with a caretaker
or matron who lived with the girls but looked after all.

‘Between the blg house and the children's were two smell
cottages, though believe the one difectly between was built a
little 1ater;.and in }1ne with the childrenfs but to the south
was a one=story place 1ln which threa or four of_the women had
rooms. Still in liné and further to the south was the laundry,
with connected machine'shop, : Mamma and I were in the first of
the 1llttle cottages during my convalesence from typﬁoid and later .

our blind member, Emmit McPhetter, lived in it. The other was

oﬁr school for a time and then Waé used by Marie Fischer and now
by Vesta Newcomb.,

To the east of the main house and near the road was anoth-

er tWo-stOry holise where we went to school when we first came to

Estero, Samuel Armour being the teacher. .Later it was renovated
and used entirely for residence purposes.‘ Both Doctor snd Victoria
lived there at times and when Doctor's son Arthur Teed and his

wife vigited for some months, they had thé'upstaifs room facing

the big house.. At that time the wchool ﬁas beiné held in a little
bullding some distancé up The country road and I remember Bosalea

and I had a frightehing experiénCe in connection with it one day.

I don't know how we heappened to be there after all the rest had
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a blg razor-back hog,which had been rooting around nearby but we

had not seen before, chargedius. We ran back around the bullding,’
hand-in-hand until we could'manage to scramble up on the porch from
the slde Just as he reached us, and there .we stayed, marooned. ;
After some time, when he seemed to have lost interest and wandered .
off behind the bullding, we decided to make a break for it. With
the school between him and us, we slipped off the porch and began

to run,istiil hand—in-hand,ionly té learn that his interest had not
waned after all. When hls view was no longer blocked and he saw us i
running, he started after us agaln and did not gilve up the chase
untlil we were about ready to turn into the grounds, out of breath
and our hearts pounding. I belleve George Hussey was the teacher
et that vime. | | |

It was while school was 'held 1n the little cottage nearest
the éhildren"s house that I was appolinted teacher to f11l1 out the
term when, for some reason I do not remember, the teacher did not

complete it. Until then I had alwaysthought I would like to be a

teacher; but that‘éxperience ended any such notion. Several in
the school were Jﬁst my age or a littlé older so of course had to
asgert thelr independence to.show that'they were not subordinate
under my Jurilsdiction to rules they had otherwlse observed as a
matter of course, aﬁd, of the children, Mildred Teed was espéciai-
ly obstreperous, so none of the pupiIS'was'mbre glad than I when
the end of that term arrived. | ‘ . |

On the river bank, reached by a short path from the.main
walk and from the river by a;flight of steps, as there was a
littleilanding there for row'bbats? was the 1little thatched bulld<

ing we called "Sister Emma's Cottage," as she lived in 1t for some
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time after we first arrived. Later on Doctor and Blanche Ruth
lived in it until they left and returned to their home in Iowa.

Not far from 1t, corneréq by the river’and the county road,
was the originél store and‘postoffioe, which 1atei burned and was
replaced by a larger and better one.

Others from ﬁhe north, or new members, kept coming oc-
casionally, but 1t was not until the fallvof 1903 that the remain-
der of the Chicago colony came to Florida from Englewood, the
Washington Helights place having been given ﬁp in 1902 and the.
ones living there moved ﬁo Englewogd., With their arrival, our
populatidn soared up toward 200 and ﬁhings really began to hum.

The first need was a new bullding to house the printing and
publishing department, so work was begun~1mmediately on a two-story
bullding near.the river and on the other side of‘ﬁhe county road. |
Thls offered an excuse for little groups of the young people to '
have get-togethers. We would go over in theAearly evenings to
gee what progress had been made during the déy and.ﬁsuaily a
group of six or elght would meet, make see-8aWs byAputting planks
across sawhorses, and some of the more,advenfurous of us,WQuld
climb around on the floor beaus; then all would take e walk up
the road. Sometimes,Abut not always, We'WOuld take something

i

to eat,

" After completion of the printing officé, éhe sawmlll Wés
' moved to the river benk beyond it, and boatbuilding docks and
other facillitles bullt closeby. .

Much later; after the Lewlses both retired (she‘was a
sister of Rose Gllbert énd.a postmistress somewhere and he was,
I believe, a.Western Unlon operétor), they 1éased a lot on the
samé side of the road és the printing office and bullt a nice

1ittle home there;
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I am not sure whether it was before the visit of Arthur
Teed or Just after that the art hall was built, but certalnly the
name was given to 1t becaﬁse of the large collection of hls palnt-~
ings which adorned its Walis after the Unlty purchased them at the
énd of hls stay. He had received his training in various art cen-
ters of Europe and was QonSidered an artist of note. TFor some time,
anyway, 1t had been felt that a separate place should be provided
for church meetlngs, entertalnments and concerts. Situated right
off the road and some disténce from the strictly iiving and utlli-
farlan bulldings, it was easlly accesslble to the general public
and more sultable for such.purposeéa It still houses nmuch of the
history of the comﬁunity in the various objects kept there, even
the old orchestra and band instruments.

I believe the "Planetary Housé" was the iast to be added,
end that this was after I left, though of coﬁrse am familliar with
it from my many trips back while Mamma and'Pappa were still living.
It 1s just east of the big house, which has long since been torn

down and no trace left.

. Although there were already'many plantings of tropical
trees, sghrubs and flowering plants on the grounds before the ér-
rival of the last contingent fromﬂChicago, a crash program was
soon under way to make the place outstandingly beautiful. &

- large orew of Negro workers were employed to complete the work
a3 goon as possible, Walks and drivéways were wldened and new
ones made and covered wlth shell brought ﬁp’from'the bay. Mounds
were constructed and sunken gardens dug. Many more palms of ‘
'various kinds, and other.trees, shrubé and flowers set out.

Soon a plant nursefy was built’up Which for many years to come

helped add to the commuhity's lncome.
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As Lovelle went into the childrenﬁs cottage and I into
, the dormitory, our lives diverged for awhile. She and Mamie Welmar
/became praCtically inseparable companions for a time and, though |
Catharine and I shared the same room, we both tufned to others for
companionship. She had always been more friendly with Imogene
than any of the other glrls in the north, but after coming to
Estero she and Vesta'spent much time fogether°

My“first combanion was BerthalGréham, Whom I had not known
1n‘the north as she had been at Englewood and was some four years
older than I, though never. seemed s8o0 to me, and we spent practical-
’ly all of'our free time together, and if'it ﬁad not been for Bertha
I would not be here now, ‘ |

She had lived at Estero before;for a time and'was the only

one of the glrls - except Vesta, and' she almost néver joined in

”kszuch activities - who could swim; but We'all wanted to learn. The
river was the only place avallable and 1t was shallow only aldng

the shore, the botton suddenly dropping to a depth of elghteen

feet in the mliddle at the Royal Landihg Where we were practiclng -

P .
80 named because of a royal polnclana tree nearby.

After playing around in the water for some time, the others
had one by one cliﬁbed out and were on the landing, but I was still
practicing my strokeé and kicks, not noticing that I was alone in-
til I suddenly realized I had slipped'intq very deep water. Lopk-
.1ng up, I could see the sun's rays in Whatvlooked-like long dliag-
onal stripes, and I seemed unable to riée. My only thought was

the hope that Bertha Would mlss me and come in, Which she did.

The next thing I remember 1s being on the landing and the others /\
s rolling me around. Later, Bertha told that when she reached ne,

I immediately climbed on her back in such a way that swimming was
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Impossibley; so all she could do was waik and hope 1t was in the
right direction. Some of the girls sald I had come up énd gone
down three times, but I was not consclous of it. |

Many years later, hisﬁory repeated itself in a way and I
again‘OWed my life to a Graham. While in Seattle.on a trip, Rébbie
Graham, who was working in a publishing house there, and I planned
'to Join a bus touring party to Mount Rainier National Park. As I
-remember, the total cost was to be §17 each for- the trip, entrance
' fee and dinner at the hotel there, but, when he happened to mention
if td his foreman, the latter suggested that, instead, we pay the
amounts to him (he_wanted,the money to pay for a season entrance

ticket) and he would take his family and cemping equipment and we

but 1t was difflcult for Robble to turn the proposition down so
that was the way we Went. The wife, little boy and I were td.have
the tent and the man, Rdbbie and the big boy would roll up in
blankets and sleep around the campfire, but5 at the last minute,
the man decided to crawl into the tent, too, so with his snoring
added to the discomforf of the hard grbund, the 'cold and having to
keep my clothes on; I didn't sleep a wink. Thé others were slower

about getting up so Hobble and I decided to take some pletures. be-

fore breakfast and wandered up to Narada Fells. We each had our
own cameraland,‘in order to get the viéW.I‘Wanted, I stepped out
on a ledge with around a 200-foot drop-bff.just in front of me,

ralised my camera, end thén everything went‘black. I awoke lying

on solld ground with Robble's scared face Just above mine.‘ He

sald he had looked away from me for just a second and then back
to see me swaying on the ledge.' Ee jumped and caught me Jjust in

time to keep me from falling into the abyss. -
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After Bertha, I went around some with Marguerite Borden,
but that companionship was not always harmonious. She had a mania o

for collecting all sorts of insects, butterflies, spiders and any-.

thing else that she could catch and impale on boards with pins to Q}

dle, which to me, always tenderhearted to the point of fanaticism,

seemed horrible, so I alwajs fought to save them from her when I

was around. I remember once even dropping to the ground and ‘ ;ﬁ

spreading my skirt over a blg spider spe was attempting to add to ¥

her collection. | | |
Meaﬁwhile, Cathar1ne was frequently calling on me to act

as her foll when she and James Newcomb, ﬁho were then interested

In each other; wanted to meet somewhere. These sessionsiwere more -

than boring to me. ' I was entirely out of the conversation, but

Just had to be there. | i
On the'whole, however,.those early daysiwere happy ones

as everything was so new ahd different and there was always 80

‘much going on. Even the freeze which occurred the first winter

had its thrills. Thé men stayed up all n;ght during it to fire the

cltrus groves and several df thé women stayed in the kitéhen to have

hot coffee and snacks ready when they would come in off and on. The

first night I hardly slept for, sitting at my third-floor window,

I could see the many fires with the men mdving around among them

under the pink-tinted smoke clouds, and 1t all seemed too beautl-

ful to.leave for sleep.,

Although the young people were not supposed to date alone,
we were always together in groups and i believe really had much

more fun than most of the young folks outslde who were supposed»

to be more privileged.

One of the favorite spots for little get-togethers was .

' it
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. Victoria Island, a small piot of ground in the river some distence
further up toward its source. In addition to its own growth, the

trees from both banks of the mainland leaning over made it a regular

little bower. Groups of about 8ix, usually, aund a chaperon would

build a fire at one end, eat their little plcnlc supper and then

1ounge around, talking or singing.

Lovelle tells of a time when the group consisted of.Ada and
Carlton, Eva and Robbie, Harry and herself, with Catherine as chap-
eron, Redbugs were always something. to be reckoned with, but must
have been especlally bad this time as Catharine memorialized the

occaslon with the following poem:

"The Redbug
A Picnlc Tragedy
by
Catharine McCready

" "What's this romantic sight?-
An island where moonlight
And dusky shades of night

War for supremecy. .
Above, the tree-moss grows;
Below, the river flows:
O'er a2ll a south wind blows

With luxuriancy.

"Upon the rugged ground,
In restful postures round,
On picnic pleasures bound,
Three men, three maldens lay.

In
Or
In

dreamy thought they smiled
murnured low the whlle
indolence they wiled

The summer hours away,

"But ah! The treach'rous earth
Ere this has given birth
-+ To things of spuricus worth
' And man's discomforture.
Within this snowy sand
A red fiend has his stand A
Nor thought, nor act, nor hand n
Can stay his silent tour. ‘ '

"He bores into the flesh
And leaves behind a mesh

6L,
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Of crimson sores that rush
With stinging biting fire.
The victims tear and scratch
But this they find no match
For these small mounds that hatch
To ralse and test their ire.

"Salt baths, indeed, or Ohl
Coal oll! Sapoliolf
In quantities that grow

Can bring them no relief.
Tired out, thelr efforts cease;
Sleep brings them a release;
Into unconsclous peace

They sink at last from grief."

I.can remember similar.times, though.I believe our chaperon

would be Rose Gilbert; who always entered quietly into the spirit

of things, and was an especlal favorite of miﬁe.

The river Waé the scene of many of our good times. Although
occasionally a boat belonglng to someone. further up the river passed
our place, coming orgoing, 1t was not very often so the river seemed.
almost to belong to us. Quite clear most of the time, we could sit
on the Bamboo Lending with our feet hanging over and watch the flsh
-8wimming around, especially the long sharp-nosed gar, which were

50 numerous there and came in close. On dark nights the water |

was sometimes so phosphorescent 1t was like looking down into the

nilky way and, from a distance, it actually had a milky appearance,

but when a school of fish was disturbed by something and swam off
in all difections, it was asvif rockets were ﬁeing shot off.

Often we would go out .in the rowboats for little singing
pﬁrties_9 with Harry playing hlis coronet -~ its notes always honey

gsweet - or Jay would accompany us on the gultar.

Sometimes on dark nights there were fire-fishing excursions.

Allen,'in his book, tells that the first group had them to provide
fifood, but ours ware more fof fun, though the same  methods were

used - a pitch-pine fire on the'stern deck of the launch Victoria
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and the string of skiffs tied behind (a larger one was called a

"shark boat"). When enough fish had jumped in for our purposes,

we would land somewhere, the boys would dig shallow pits and .

build fires in them; thén the cleaned fish were baked in the coals

and we had a fish supper by the light of a fire. There was one

supper that Bessle Grier did not enjoy so much as the resﬁ of us
for a blg fish had struck her in the stbmach and made her quite N
sick for ewhile. | I

Marguerite and I, both early birds, often slipped out at

the first sign of llight to an uunreal, fog enclosed river. Going
upstream where it was more narrow, sometimes an alligator, sroused
by the sound of the oars, would slide into the water Just ahead of
us or almost alongside, or a nighthird fishiné from a low branch

‘suddenly fly off with great flapping of wings, while the continual

4drip, drip from overhanging branches soon had us about as wet as
if we had been in, not on, the river. ‘
"During the early part of our life in Estero several of the
girls were given alligator eggs by one of the boys who had found'
them somewhere aiong the river. Most were already cracked so it
was thought they woﬁld soon hatch but it turned out that none did,
-the reason given by one of the older men being that the 1little
‘alligators had probably drowned during a perlod of high water.

‘We were told to keep them in damp sawdust and I, at least, did

though do not know about the others. BRuth became impatient and
~decided to help her 1litile one out, she sald 1ater; but found it
vas not ready so threw it into the river. This left only mine
and 1t was at least a couple of weeks later before the sheli be-

gan to crack and move. As it was during a squally weather period

‘When we were hoﬁsebound, several of us spent a good bit of tinme
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sitting around Catharine's bed where I had it so we could be more
comfortable'while we watched and 1t would be safe from falllng or
getting under foot 1f 1t hatched while I was not there, for I always
fucked in the mosquito bar. However, he oblligingly popped out of
the shell while most of us who were interested were watching.
Catharine happened to be at the is1and at the tiﬁe, but when she
arrived home and found I had used her bed as an alligator hatchery,
.she called me down as only Catharine.could. I named him Imp and,
as it turned out; a fall from the bed to the floor would have
meant nothing to him for he managed to get away from'me one day and
headed stralght for the stalrwsy. Before I could get to him he had
fallen through the stalr well to the second floor and through that
one to the first. A colored woman who,was helping out in the kit-
chen announced hls arrival there by a loud shriek énd continued
with one after another until I could get down and cornef him,
none the worse for his experlence. R He dlied during the following
- winter and one of the men told me it was because I kept disturbing
him for feeding when he was sﬁpposed to be hybernating. | |
The wéter‘supply had always begn suﬁplied by biglcisterns,
one at the corner of the diningroom with EheAbutler's bantfy, I
believe, and the other at the southwest corner of the kitchen .

porch. A big toad lived for a long time under the latter and was

considered more or less as a petb, so one day whlle several of us

were working in the kitchen and heard a muffled but still loud

croaking and ran out, we found an unusually blg blacksnake swal-

untll he disgorged the ﬁoad; which was then washed off under the
cistern faucet and allowed to. go back into his refreat, the snake

meanwhlle oozing off to a less hostile eﬁvironment minus his dinnér.
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ATter the arrival of our orowd,; the increased use of water,
along with an unusually long spell of dry weather, soon exhausted

the cisterns so a well was dug not far from the kitchen to take ;%i‘

care of the needs. Howevefa es 1t turned out, the well was not
deep enough and the water evidently confaminated 80 sSeveral con-
tracted typhold fever, I.among them though Catharine and Lovelle
escaped,

The first effect was & weaskness which grew until I could
hardly perform my duties. Several of us were assigned alternate-
. 1y to diningroom and dlshwashing chores. In the diningroom each
was regponslible for five tables., We not only cleared and reset , é%i'
them for each meal and swept under and arouﬁd them once a day,
but also ironed thelr tablecloths and polished thelr sllverware.
Then three of us at & time would take over the dlshes in the kit-
chen; one would wash, one wipe, and the thifé.roustabout, which
; meant scraplng, stacklng and bringlng the-dishes to the dishwasher,

and putting them away after they were dried.

While still oﬁ the dinlngroom shift,’I‘reéched the point
where I could hardly drag the broom around,.and.severalzof the
sisters noted with disapproval that I was doing Just that - drag-
:glng and not sweeping. Then I had‘to rest twlce on each of the
two long fllights of steps td get to my room, but nobody paid' ' <%é

nuch attention. One of the sisters remarked that there could not.

be much the matter with anybody who had such red cheeks; that I
was the plcture of health., Mamma would have noticed at once that
aell was not well. .

Finally I finlshed my diningrqom shift and progresséd
into the kitchen as a rousfabout but, b& then had reached the

last of my endurahce and, as 1 started to take some dishes from
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the shelf, fell headlong in a féint. Slster Emms was sent for as
Doctor Ruth was on a trip to Marco Island at the time and I woke

up in bed. Silster Emma was not only the matron butb also a sort of
homeopathic doctor ﬁhose mgin presoriptioh was.a series °f&ffff33§§’
Already so weak, these left me unable to stand.

Catharine and I shared our little enclosure but she was at
the island then 80 Lovelle oame'up to bring my dinner - I believe
the second day of my 1llness. -Thére was a gevere thunder storm in
progress at the time and, Jjust as she was preparing to give me a
gpoonful .of somefhiﬁg,'there was a deafening orash and‘crackling‘u
sound. Lovelle dropped the spoon and was off like a deer. I
listened to her running'down the stairs and, realizing that I was
alone in that blg room, looked up to see The entire unfinished 1in- )
glde area of the rqof filled.with an -opague #1ole£ light which soon
gave away to flames at the far end of the room from me., Within
minutes 1t seemed that the entire diﬁingroom erupted into the
third floor dormitory,’the men carrying pails of water; though as
it turned 6ut they were not necessary for the raln, coming down
in such torrents, soon extingulshed the fire without aid. The
bolt had come in through the extreme'end of the roof peak and
pasged out thrdugh the window in Marguerite's room, cuttiﬁg the
wire holding up her mirror as it passed and:dropping 1t unhurt
- %0 the floor. A sister who'was standing‘near a diningroom win-
dow just below at the time ssid it looked'like a‘bal1 of fire as
it came past the window and struck the ground., Sometlime later
Lovelle graduated from the thldren's'cottage ahdiﬁbvedninto the
- dormitory with us. Cathafine'é bed was at the east side of -the
;room, Lovelie's at the west, and mlne écross the south side. I
' suppose there was some exéuse for the agcusation that we had too

~much "famlly tie," for we did manage to keep together to a greater
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degreé than most of the others there who were relatives,

That was the worst season for violent lightning storms I
have ever known, and never before nor since heve I seen 80 much of
that long-lasting opaque violet light which seemed to be a part of
.most of'them; Before then I had elways loved to watch a lightning
storm; the great zig-zagging stréaks_of light were g0 éwesomely
beautiful, especially in a dark sky, that sometimes Mamma would
have to tell me to shut'the window and.comé away from it. One
other experlence during my i1liness put the filnal end to that,
however. After Mamma and I were moved vo the little cottage among
the mﬁlberry trees for more qulet, the one big plne tree close to
the door was struck, and ffom thAt time on lightning was something
to be feared rather than admired. |

Ruth and Bertle oame down with light attacks and we were
all moved into the cormer room where Marguerite had been. Annis
Knowles, who ococuplied the diagonally opposite corner at the other
end, next to Catharine's and my room, was appolnted to loock after
us.. Annle Armour, who had the corner room jpst across from Annis,
was cared for by her sister Bellé, also in the dormitory, and Maude
Acuff was very sick in the room at the head of the stairs. Doctor
Ruth, who had come home mean?ime, sald Maude's symptoms were more
those of yellow fever thanfof typhold.

~Annisg, it seemed to us, hever paid any attention to our
wants and spent most of her time in bed réading,.but‘could hear
Doctor Ruth's filrst footstép on the lower stairway and, by the time
he reachedthe third floor, she would be fluffing bur piilows and
performing‘other solioifous little acts. Whatever the matter was
wlth Bertie and RButh, 1% apparently was not typhoid, or.a'remafkpl

ably shortlived type, for they were up and gone in a few days and
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I had the corner to myself. Then my friend Blanche RButh practi-
cally took over with me. ©She would sit by my bed by the hour,
fanning and reading to me.A‘ | ‘ '

Meanwhlile both Annie.and Maude became delirious and would
‘say all sorts of outlandish things which were funny to many, in-
cluding Blanche, but seeméd terrible to me.. I remember Blanche
came in one day laughing and told me Maude sald somebody had found
ﬁer head and arms up on the county road. I was determined not to
become‘deliripus 80, whén i closed my éyes and my mind began to
- drift; I immediately opened them agaln and concentrated on some=
‘thing definite. Doctor Buth told Mamma later that he had never
understood how, with the long, high fever IAhad, I never became
delirious‘unless it was Just will power.

Then Annie died and 1t was decided to wire Mamme that I
was very sick and might not 1live, so she, with Rosalea and Will,
left lmmediately for Florida. Later she told that; while walting
in Fort Myers for qufher George to arrive with the Victdria, Two
men standing near her were talking about the Unity illnesses and
one mentioned that another girl had diled. Mamma'said shg'inVOl-
wmtarily cried out, "Marie! Marie 1s dead!" and the maniassured
her that the one who gavehim the information also said that the
girl whose mother was coming from Chlcago was still allve,

I will nevef forget my Joy at being locked in her arms
end knowing she would be wlth me from then on. I had her put
her bed right against mine so I could'reacﬁ over in the hight
to touch her and be sure she was stlll there; after all those
monthé, 1t 'seemed too good to be true. There was always some-
thing so comforting énd reassuring about Mamma®s presenCe; Even

years afterward during my vislts to Estero, agaln quartered in
' 71,
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the third floor ddrmitory, when there would be an especlally bad
lightning storm during the nlght, I would run downstairs and
slip into bed With Mamme.. Nothing would be said by elther of us,
buﬁ, with her arm across my'chest, I was soon sound asleep, utter-
1y oblivious to the thunder and lightning. . A ‘
Rosale_a9 being a little older, seemed to adjust to belng
away from Mammé better than Will, HQ ﬁould come over }from the‘
children's cottage and éit on the"stéps9 the nearest he was al-
lowed to come. It must have been heartbreakihg to Mamma to know
he was there but, for the time being, she felt that my need of

her was greater.

could be propped up with pillows, and some time longer before, with
the help of Catharine and iovelle,'I learned all over again to walk.
Meanwhile Mamma had succumbed to such & severe attack of rheumatism:
that she, also, was confined to bed and Fredericka Paulson, a pleas-
ant liftle Norwegiaﬁ woman, was assigned to look after us.

Ag soon as it could be arranged éfte:Athe typhold epidemic, -
a Wwell-drilling orew and equlpment were brought'in to drill for a
deep well some dlstance east of the big house, and the result was

a fountain of sulphur water, Just at first 1t caused the surround-
.1ng area to be permeated with an odor something like overripe eggs,
‘but thils gradually disslipated. Though the water always'had é~
 glightly sulphur taste, most of us learned to 1ike it and on our

later visits to Estero a drink from the fountaln was always one of

the first musts,

While the first rainy season we experlenced in Florids
eft memories of viclous lightning s%orms, the second one tried to

onpensate with its rainbows. Each raln seemed to terminate with
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'at leagt one blg perfeot ralnbow arching across the sky in the

dlstance, and sometimes two at the same time. Watching them, I

often thought of the one in Freedom. I had gone to the kitchen

window to see 1f the raln was over end there, to my astonishment, Q

was a.rainbow, clear to the ground, in our.baok yard. Everybody
had always sald it was impossible toget to a ralnbow even when

it seemed near; for 1t would recede as one approached, so I raced
out of the house and up the steps into the back yard, expecting
to see that it was already at least to the wall, but it was Jjust

where 1t had been and I ran right into its mlsty vell of 1rldescence,

Holding 6ut my arms, I saw them ﬁhrough the soft multl-colored hues,
whlch gradually became lighter and thén were gonéa There was no
pot of gold, but I did reach the end of the rainbow aﬁd stand
briefly with it all around me. | |

Estero Island was where we all.Went for vacations of any-
where from a few days to a.week'or two ﬁeeks et a time, and thére
never seemed to be any.trouble about "getting off" to go; The -
main two-story house was.maintained by a few members who llved
there permanently, the men sleeping in a Sebarate smailAbgilding
‘or bulldings - I do not'remember much abdutfthem. Karl Leuttich
and his son Charlie lived there all the time, as did Roy Lamor-
eaux, and 1ateroﬁ Harry Morrow. They were the flshermen who pro~‘
vided that part of the Unity's food supply,; which they would
bring up both fresh and smoked - mostly.mullet, still my favorite
fish. We all have happy memories ofABtays'aﬁ the island, and I
had two exciting and potentially dangerons experieﬁces; one with

Lovelle and the ather Catherine.

Lovelle andAI and another glirl, I believe Ada though am

not sure, had waded during an unusually low tide to an éxposed
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sandbar much further out than we had ever been before to look for

shells. We found so many nice ones and became so engrossed in our

pursult that we did not at first notice that the area of search
- was becoming smaller with each wave - the tlide was coming in fast.
Immedlately we started toward shore but found there was almost no
place where we could wade, which meant swimming'back the whole
long distande to our beach. At first it was funny and we glggled,
but learned pretﬁy soon that we had Better gsave our breath for
swinmling, and 1t~W§s With‘great relief that we finally came near
enough to the beach to touch ground and wade out, for we were all
exhausted. |

The other time was Just after ny recovery from the fever,
when Catharine and I were spending awhile at the island for any
possible benefit that might accrue from the changé and the salt
alr. As iﬁ happened, there were several others there at the same
time - Doctor, Victorlia and Carlton Case, among others. To many
~of the Unity boys éailing was almost second nature, but,; though
thls d1d not happen to be so with Carlton, he invited Catharine
and me for a sall and we éccépted° Everything was fine,at first
for he could manage as long as the weather cooperated but, while
we were still quite some distance from port, a storm began to roll -
in, preceded by strong winds. Carlton, lnexperlenced in such a
gltuation, was already becouing rattied by the time we reached
the pass at the end of the island and theh everybody belng out
gesticulating and yelling instructions did .the opposite from help-
ing and he lost his head entlrely. That pass Waé déngeious:enough
in good weather for it was deep and swift and always full of sharks. .
Balted lines were often kept in it and then the sharks brought up

and buried in the farming areas as fertillzer. Now the waves

were/high and we. jumped from one slde to the other as the boat
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dipped and water poured over the sides. Catharine and I both
balled when we could but had to watch for the booﬁ, which swung
back and forth. Almost miraculously, it seemed, he finally did
bring the boat close enough to shore so that John Watson and
Thomas Gay waded out and pulled it in. They then made a seat of
thelr hands and carried me to the house as, still so weak and bur-
dened with my sosked clothing —'then long skirts énd petticoats -
I ocould not'walks Poor Carlton, though hls lntentlons had been

the best in the world, was 1in deep disgrace for taking us out when
he did not know how to sail;

'The two big events each year were Doctor's birthday, Oc-
tober 18, and Victoria's,'April 10. On these days the diningroom
Waé always profusely decorated wlth Pine boughs,‘palm leaves,; etc.;

potted plants were brought in from the nurgery and flowers put on

the tables. There was always an unusually good dinner and some
gort foentertainment afterward., Also; we glrls usually had new

dresses for the occasions., A

Over - a long period a monthly blrthday party was given for
all who had birthdays in that month. Each of the men and boys was

presented wlth a big glngercake woman and each woman or girl a gln-

gercake man., Then, followling an old Spanish custom, everybody in

‘turn, beginning with the guests of honor - those whose birthdays
were belng celebrated - wés blindfolded, given a heavy stigk;and
turned around a couple of times before hé or she tried tvo break

‘& heavy paper bag suspended from a sﬁpporting beam in the celling.
When the blow was successful, everybody undignified enéugh'scrambled
‘for the various small trinkets, candy, etc. with which the bag had
been stuffed. The Spanlsh and Mexicans call this bag "la pinate,”
end Lovelle and I have wondered 1f Rollin Gray, who we suspect may

have been part Mexican, was the one who introduced the idea. He
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looked Spanlsh and gave Spanlsh lessons for awhile.

Esther Stotler, & Pittsburgher and first cousin of Andrew

Mellon, gave the glrls dancing lessons; not only the waltz and two-
gtep, but the Virginia reel and such speclaltlies as the "Portland
Fancy," so there were often dances in the evenlngs. When 1t was
Just waltzing and two-stepplng only the girls took pert as the men
did not like to dance with other men, but all jolned in the Virginia
. reels and square dances, Ross Wallsace, with his strong volce, was
generally the caller. N

When Johnny Horne, a Scotch boy, came and danced the High- - ‘L‘
‘land fling, some of theiyounger girle immedietely wanted to learn ;Q'
1t 8o he tralned a foursome of Julla Wright, Rosalea, Buth Wallace
and Eunice Hussey. Julia and he later married and brought up a
famlily near the Unity. |

Among children's entertalnments given at Estero, there was
one I remember especlally, perhaps because Will, then little, was
the hit of the show. It Was called "The Toys'® Rebellion," and
the chlldren, made up to represent different kinds of toys, marched

around the stage singling and volcing their protestas, Will, a toy

soldler, walking stiff-leggedly, brought up the rear. Jmst as he
reached the middle ef the stage on the last round, he came to a
dead stop as the*rest marched into the wings. He~steod‘there a
few seconds all alone and then called outz "Wind me up; I'm all

run down," and brought the most of the evening s applause.

- Many of the young people liked to play cards and sometimes
there were several tables going at the same time, often playing
different‘games° I believe*eribbage wes the more generalifavorite,
though we also liked whist and euchre, and even poker, but think

that was more the bpys than the girls.
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Some tlme after conatruction on the printing office wase
finished, an unusual swing was put up near the short-cut path 1ead;
ing from the dining room to the store and postoffice. Long,”slenderv
cypress poles were used inetead of rTopes; and two people standing
face to face could "work up" to where it would swing almost stralght
out. Bertle Boomer and I never chummed, but I do not remembef work-..
ing up with any of the other girls. We would go down and étand by
the swing until one of the men came by to give us & start, and then
would swing until tired. We never did go as far up as was pogsible
but sometimes the boys did. We had been doing this for qu1te awhile
before somebody told Doctor and he sent word that it was dangerous
go not to do 1t any more, and we gldn't,

In line with Doctor's often repeated desire that hls people .
"be informed," one member always sat at one of the reading tables
during mealseand'read the papers aloud? most"often while I was there.
this was Henry Silverfriend. Impromptu meetings were called some-
‘times at which incorrectly worded sentences were read from the
stage end then 1t was asked that someone In the audiance rlse and
give the correctien. However; I think the spelling bees were more
- generally enjoyed for there was always a blg, eager semi-circle on
such occasions. This all had the desired results for evefybody
naturally made an effort to speak as correctly as possible, and
" even those who did not haveAthe'advantage’of much schooling before
coming in soon gave the lmpression of having had an education,

During 1952, while Fred and I were in Pennsylvania and yisiting
Laurs, (Foster)-Zich, a second cousin who was born'and broﬁght up
in Homewood, she told that when I first came back as a jeﬁng girl,
she thought I used the most beautiful English she had ever heard,
though added: ﬁBﬁf she soon.gotfever it." I knew what she meant
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for, on being with Catharine again aftver not having seen her for
years, I could not help notlcing that she always used Just the'right'
word 1n the right place. Being pretty:much of an introvert and so
not assgoclating to any gréat exﬁent with anybody but Lee, who was
.well educated, she had not "got over it."

Mugic was always a vital part of Unity 1life. As soon as
we arrived Jay began giving music lessons to those of us who
could not already play an orchestra instrument; preparatory to
bullding up an orchestra, and soon a fifteen-plece one was organ-
lzed. Harry led it wlith his coronet, the other winds being James : ﬁ
Newcomb, second coronet; and Waiter Bartsch, slide trombone, ' o
Strings were: first vidlins, Jay Morgan, Laurie Bubbett and Allgn | : i
Andrews; second violins, Lovelle, Aﬁnie Ray Andrews, Bertie Boom- , i{
.er and James Bubbett; violas, Robbie Graham and'I;,cello, Wilton
Hoyt; and Jesse Putnam solemnly played'the bass viol. Esther
Stotler was at the ﬁiano untlil Marguerite Bordeﬁ'took ovef. Later‘
Julia Wright joined’as flutist énd, when Lovelle was promoted to
first violin, Jay became clariﬁetist.

The 1ittle "music house® to the west of the other build-
ings, was much in demand for practicing by those of us who were
taking lessons. In fact there were Just not enough houré in the
day to get in all we wanted to so, in hunting around for a place
where I could put in some extra time, I came upon a little hut
across the river and not far from the coﬁnty road where I de~
clded I could Bét ﬁp my muslc rack and practice to my heart's
content wlthout bothering anybody or belng bothered b& someone

else coming in with his or her instrument before I was ready to

leave. This little hut was just a frame with both Toof and sides
thatoched with palmetto leaves and had originally been used as a
. -
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. bee house, where the honey was extracted, but now abandoned, was
almost hidden behind weeds and bushes; For a few days I was per-
fectly heappy in my little hideaway and then one day while I was
concentrating on my ﬁotes é sudden shower of blrd shot came
fhrough the window and slde of the shack. Terrified, I put my
viola in its case, grabbed the muslc and rack and ran for the
road. I never did learn who fired the shot but it was certainly
almed right at me, so the little building was agaln abandoned.

On certaln evenings those of the young people who were lnterested,
ﬁostly the orchestra crowd, would meet at the music house, where
someone ﬁould read artlcles from our two musical magazines, The
Efude and The Metronome, and there unld be general dlscussions.

We ail enjoyed the orchestra préctice éessiqns. Selectlons.
were classical and semi-claséical and, affer we had played the

last long notes of some plece on whicﬁ We'feit we had done es-
peclally well, we would turn to each other to smile or laugh, the
planist swinging‘around on her stool to join in. I am sure this
instilled in all of us a love of good music:_9 and back in Homewood

I often felt hungry.for 1t, so always welcomed the opportunities
while visiting in Pittsburgh to attend COncerts at Carnegie Hall
or those glven in connection with the Pittsburgh Expositions,_
which enabled me to hear Soﬁsa, Victor Herbert and others of the
great bands and orchestras. Cousin Lols at that time was utterly
‘engrossed in her music and always wanted to go but neithef of her
slsters cared much about concerts, so she was always glad to have

. my companionéhip. . |
' One of our lighter numbers which we all liked was called -
"Alelda, " so when the orchestra group, in some way I do not now
remember, aoquired their own little sallboat, we named it for

this plece, and we often had 1little excursions to the lsland,
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where 1t was usually kept, for salling parties.

The most thrilling trlp the orchestra made as a group, how-

ever, was to take part 1n the first Falr whlch was held in Tampa;
The Uhltyuhad taken & booth'(those first ones belng temporary,

rustio, thatchéd affalrs) where the Koreshan doctrines could be
brought to the attention of thbse who would attend, and the or-

chestra entertalned and helped bring people to look at our exhibits

A R R R

-and 1listen to the 1llttle lectures which were glven frequently.

:nw.n::\gr:.

Eleanbr Castle, a brilliant ex-teacher from Chicago, did most of

the talking; her quick'Ifish wlt not only enabled her to hold her

3

£t

own in anj argument, but always putaa note of humor into 1it.
The 6rchestra members wore white uniforms with decora-

tions of red and goldhbraid across the fronts of the coats and

downn the legs of the men's trousers and the side seams of the
/)girls’ skirts. As we were mostly young (Lovelle and I barely
past our rourteenth and sixteenth birthdays - mine may have come
during the Falr 1f it was Held at the same time then that 1t is
now), everybody conmected with it made a great deal over us,
which, of coﬁrse, we enjoyed. At the time the Tempa Bay Hotel,-
‘how the University of Taﬁpa, was stlill belng operated as a hotel,
and the orchestra gave at least two-.concerts in it, which were
exclting as of course we wére_the center of attraction and weire
taken around to see the many historlic and beautiful art objects
‘which had been brought fromtall over the world by Mrs. H. B.
Plant as furnlshings for thé hotel when 1t was opened by her
husband, the mllllonaire railroad magnate,about 1890.
Later there was aﬁ all-girl orchestra which Lovelle, at the

._;#rging of the other glirls, organized and led with her violiny; but

this was after I left so I never heard it.
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In the earlier days concerts were under the direction of

fﬂarry Boomer and were usually held on Saturday evenings. One of
“%hese included an instrumental duet by Lovelle and him, she play- .
ing the violin and he the trumpet, with piano accompaniment, of
the old song "Love me and the World 1s Mine," The audiance was
' somewhat amused at this for, though Lovelle was heVer very respon-
sive, Harry made no secret of his interest in her, which began, I
believe, when we first went to Estero and she and Mamle wéimar,
then eleven or twelve, would sit on the woodpile Whilé henchopped
- wood for.the kitchen ranges, and lasted untii his death in an army
'hospital 1h Texas after she had left Estero. Lovelle and Will were
the musical ﬁembers of our family,'while Rosalea's talent was for
writing. Rhymes and verse came naturélly to her from the time,
when not much mdre than a baby, she announced her'diéapprovallof
/the doctor who had Just 1eff withs "Bad Doc Nye, he made me cry."
As a child her little verses were published in a national young
 folks® magazihe where one. of them attracted theAattention of a
Harry McCréady in California. He Wrdte her and the ensulng cor-
respondence continued for many years. Her stbries have been pub-
« lished in various maggzines, . |

The first band, also, was organized‘after I'leftfénd for
awhile Julia, with her flute, was the only g;rl in it. i asked
Will about the band as he was a member from.the time he Wasuéld
enovgh to be watil he left and he replied that they had both an

orchestra and a hand, .

"mostly the same members but substituting other instruments
when necessary. For instance, Allen Andrews played violin in
.the orchestra and clarinet in the band. They came and went as

| the years rolled by. Leaders were George Hunt, James Calderwood
[ R and Prof. Schoedler. Musiclans were: Jesse Putnam, cello;
Celeste Rugg, trumpet; Alfred Christensen, drums; Harcld More-
land violin;Claude Rahn, olarinet; Floyd Moreland, French

81.




Estero - 32,

horn; Virgll Shaw, bass vliol; Yolton Bocermany and I trom-
bones; There were others but I do not remember their.names."

One of the most ambltious and spectacular of the dramatic
productions while I was there‘wés the 1life of Joseph at Pharaoh's
court. For weeks beforehand, Moses Weaver, our chlef artist, and
his helpers worked on the scenery, which they sometimes put up in
the dining and theﬁ general assembly room., JFlnelly came the re-
hearsals. Cathariné and I had been cast as Pharaoﬂs daughter‘and
her friend. One scene was supposed to open with us sgitting in a
room talking and then she was to sing while I accompanied her on
my autoharp. ~Howevér, we Weré equally opposed to taking part in
a dilalogue 80, much to the disapproval of the writers, that part
was changed. As the curtalns were opened, Pharaoh came into the
vfobm where we were sitting and sald, "Daughter, sing to me," or
gsomething to that effect, and I think she did say "(whatever my
neme was), will you pléy?" I inclined my head énd'we began.
Catharine often sang at entertalnments, buﬁ she never enjoyed.it;
despite the fact that she always recelved a great deal of pralse,
and even sometimes presents from "outside" young men who attended
and admired her. -

- The general public were always 1nvitéd‘to our concerts
and other entertailnments and many came from Fort Myers as well as
the near neighbors, for we furnished enteftainment not available
elsewhefe in the area. | |

When I first acquired my autohafp, which wasa large one with
Seven bars, someone Suggested'thaf I get "0ld Brother'JacQﬁ," an |
expert in woodworking, to make a case for it., I don't belleve I
had ever s8a2id anything to'him before'but when I approached him
.aboutAit, he readlly agreed and I took the autoharp té be measured.

When he dellivered the flnlshed case, it wag beautifully inlsid
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wlth varlous kinds and colors of wood bub, unfortunately, he had
cut off the wroﬁg corner so either it or the harp had to lle on
its face. However, I never told him, and from then on always
made a sgpeclal effort to SPeak‘to or smile at him. Some time
after I had left, when he was very qld and hls mind wandered
occasionally, he startled Meamma one day by rising in the dining-
room to announce that he would be happy in thQ'Kingdom if he
were glven "littie Marie MéCready“ as hls soulmate. The émall
attention I had paild to the poor lonely old man had apparently
left an lmpression far beyond its worth. V'l

| George and Chafley Hunt, Jesse Putnam and Charley Faulkner
were always popula: a8 a singing quarvet. Charley*was our officlal
hunte; when we flrst came to Floridé and brought in much of the
.wild game we had to eat. In those days it was not unusual for
him to return with-wild tui‘keys° ¥Charley ﬁunt. |

George wés always one of my favorite people? not only while
I lived there but'for long afterwards when I returned for vislts
rnd he was the captaln of the launch Victoxia, Which carrled
freight and occaslional passengers between Egtero and Fort Myers.
I would go by’train from Arcadia, and later Tampa, to Fort lMyers
and then to Egstero on the Victorla, returning in reverse order.
My seat was always up in front beslde George, who would help while
away the time by singlng our old favorites such as "I stood on the
Bridge at Midnight," or "Grandfather's Ciock" in his clear tenor
volce. Jéhn Watson was engineer and cook ‘and on return trips,
when the boat was sométimes loaded high with citrué; he would come
climbing ovér the oratés with his‘wide Scotch grin and piates of

food for us. .

Iovelle writes that George was also one of her two favorite

[
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men there, and brought back to memory the times after we first came
to Florida when he would play on the organ or plano in the dining-

room and sing from memory some of hls numerous songs and we would

all ocrowd around to llsten. She quoted thils one,‘which she remem=-

bered especiallys

"T would I were a fish

How happy I would be

If I could 1live on land

As well ‘as in the sea.

In a birdcage 1'd be useful

As- a preacher ina church,

And if a bird should light on me,
Why then I would be perch.

"I would I were a fish,

I'd rather be a whale

A-swimming all around

And sticking out my talls

And when some honest man,

Who had to work and toil,

Would bore a hole down through.my back,
He surely would strike oil.

"T would I were a fish,

I'd rather be a smelt,

And happen to be thrown

At some young lady®s feetbts

And when she plcked me up,

If so inclined she felt,

She'd put me under her little nose
" And then I Would be smelt."

She mentioned his good humor and integrity, which had always im-
pressed me; too. I have felt that he, more than anyone else, held

the first 1little segment'of the Estero community together until
reinforcements arrived. | | |

One speclal instﬁnce of his dependability comes to mind,
A crowd of us had gone on a plicnic aﬁd swimming party to one of
the Hickorys in the Victoria with the Algida in tow. During the
afternoon, leaving the launch with the women, the men took thé
‘881l boat over to another island for their swim. All but two of

them went around to the other side where they would be out of
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sight of the women, and the two remaining declided to go for a sall
but, not being experienced enough 1n handl;ng it, drifted across

the pass, where they lodged.in the mangroves of another island

and were unable or afraid to tryAto sail back.A George tried to

call aﬁd signa; ilnstructions but they rema;ned right where they

were so somebody had to go after them. Others of the men and boys
could bhoth swim and float, but it was George, who had never been
able to float, who waded in and began swimming. He could not go
étraight across because of the current in the pass, but used a
dlagonal snd much longer coﬁrse 8o that the current would be a help
Instead of a hindrance. As he had to swim every foot of the way,
weble to turn om his back and rest as some of the others might have,
we were_ail worried about him. DNor was‘the pogsiblility of his becom-
ing exhausted our only anxlety, for the passes, swlft and deep, al-
lso usually had sharks in them, 80 1t was a great rellef when we
finally could see him climbing into the boat. The castaways were not
Ivery popular with some of the others when they were brought safely
back, but there were no recriminations from George, For awhile we

had been in: the predicamént of our group being on one isiaﬁd with

the Victoria and unable to operate it two of us at another with
the sall boat and not able to sall it; and the resﬁ marooned on a
third with no transportation at all.

Lovelle's other f&vorite man was‘John Sargent, who was in
charge of the stock in our early days, aﬁd she says she would sit
for hours on the high fence watchling the yoﬁng pigs,»thelfirsﬁ she
had evef seen. After awhlile he gave Julia'Wright and her each one

‘wfor their own. Julié's was black and she'called i1t "Love," but
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names, but they seemed so to twelve and thirteen year olds).Beauty
“followed her around like a dog and was the only pig that could
/élimb over the gtlle. ©She bathed and perfumed 1t, tied ribbons
around its neck and loved it, so was brdken’hearfed when the man
who was doing the butchering one time included Beauty. I don't
think Memma ever did quite forgive him,.for everybody knew about
Lovelle and Beauty and she felt that he had done it deliberabely

- and not by mistake.
Although Doctor Ruth and. Blenche lived as celibates whille

in the Unity, they also always occupled the same house for Blanche
would never consent to be separated from him, During the latter
/1'part of their time in Estern, they llved in the little thatched
cottage on the banks of the river near the entrance to the grounds.

, I believe it was the one which had been originally built by the Dam-<
| kohlers and we later knew as "Sister Emma's Cottage." It had Jjust
one Toom on the ground floor, but there was an attic sufficlently
high to provide extra sleeping quarters.

At one time he undertook to write a story of the human
‘ hesrt, and let me see the verses with which he begem 1t. I have
elways remembered the first one s

. "Oh wonderful heart in more wonderful man;
It works day end night, as hard as 1t can.
It never grows fat, and should never grow thin,
Or the man ceases to live that the heart beats in.

I do not know what caused the beginning of his dissatisfac-
tion for he had alwaysnbeen a very enthnsiastic Koreshan and willing
worker bubt, as he became more disgruntled and more oubtspoken égainst
people and things, hé, himself, . came 1n£o general disfavor. Because
of my friendship for Blanche, I often gpent the evanings with them

 ;and when feelings became curdled on both sides someone told Doctor
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about my vislits and he sent word that 1t would be better for me to
,Fﬂstop them, but I didn't. Blanche was my friend and I was going to
lose her as by that time they were planning to 1eave, They réturnéd
to their old home in Muscatine, Iowa9 but Blanche died soon afterward,
Some time later, Oliver married Alice Burrows, Nina's mother,; and they
had a son Dean, who 1i=s still living in Washington state.

In addltion to Pappa's duties at the printing office, where

he read proof as long as he could be up'and around, he took on the
beas. DBees had always been kept, but it was rather a hit or miss

operation until Pappa began to put hls "as near perfection as possible"

methods to work. Once when a cold winter and spring had made honey
- producing flowers scarce,; I remember he took his own portions of
honey, sugér, syrup,  etc. to supplement what he was able to obtaln
from the kltchen to:-keep them going until thewblooms were more plen-
tiful again. He bullt new and lmproved hives of his own design, and
the coloniles multiplied rapldly. When Just about ready to teke off
a tremendous amount of hdney as measured by previous output, the
worst flood in the history of the area ocourred, resulting from ua-
| usually heavy hurrlcane rains in that Watefshed. The Estero River
overflowed lts banks, as did others,‘and so much flooding resulted
that the launches could be taken from Estero to Fort Myers right
over the countryside. When Pappa could get back to his bees, there
were few left.  Many of the hives had been bargedAfurther down the

! river to where the maﬁgroves were blossoming and these had generally
been washed out into the bay and lost. He retrieved what he could
find and brought them back but, though bees still clung to some OF
them, the honey was mostly ruined. - ‘

Wnile he was working with the bées, he wrote many articles

' for bee magazines and onse of them,; I believe in Ohio, reproduced
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his hive design for the benefit of its readers.

fﬁt In later &ears, when Lovelle and I, with the children, would
be in Estero for visits, it was abt the bee house he liked to have

his picnlecs. This property was 8cross the rivér and there was a

building where the honey was extraééed,. It had an oil stove which

provided for cooking, but Pappa 1iked to cook outside over an open-

fire when the weather permltted,

The Unity purchased the San Carlos Hotel‘on,Pine Island with
the ihtention of operating it commercially after extensive renova~
tion., Meanwhile it provided another vacation.fadility for any who
wilshed to spend awhlle in 1t, and of course this was qulckly taken
‘advantage of by the young folks., I remember looking at the hotel

reglster,. which was still in the office when I first visited it

with an orchestra group, and the first name on it was Roach, I
MhhaVe often wondered why pgople persist In using this, to me repul-
8ive, speliing when Roche is synenymous. Never were mangoes more
deliclous than those around the hotel, nor moSquitoes moré ubiquli-
tous and vicilous, especially during the early mofnings and in the
evenings; thls detracted somewhat ffom our pieasure but was later
helped by clearlng out the rank growth of brush and weeds ﬁhich
had resulted from several years of abandonment of the hotel and
grounds. | _‘A | |

| The dock was then owned by the Whiteside family, I belleve,
who had theilr home nearby, and a man and 1little boy were usually
around somewhere when we were landing or leaving. Latgf I'was to
know-the little boy well as hé was Leslie Whiteslde, brétherfin-law
of. Lois (Moye) Whitesidé, glster of Mary Moye of Arcadla,; my close
,},friend for several years. I liveﬁ at her home the greater part of

‘.the time I was working in Arcadlia and Leslle iived with hls brother
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and Lols in Tampa. Leslle courted Lela, the youngest of the Moye

', glrls, for awhile before he suddenly and unexpectedly married her

best friend.

Stili later, we crossed Pine Island several times when wWe
vislted Réj and Abble Spanabel, the latter Mamma's nlece and ouxr
cousin, who bouéht a home on Bokeelis Island, which was connecféd
With Pine by & bridge.

The hotel burned dowm during the early summer of 1905. The
fife developed during the night and’enveloped the bullding in flanes
so qulckly that many of those in 1t escaped only‘in thelr night
clothes. 'Cathafine, who had'beeh living there and expected to return,
logt most of her beloﬂgingé in it. She was temporarily in Estero
helping Mamma to sew for me, .preparatory to my leaving for a stéy
with our McCready érandparents in Homewood, Pa.

For a good while I had been dissatisfied and wanting to
leave., NeverOStrong after my 16ng spell of typhoid, I became less
and less able to enter into activities with my old zest, and final-
ly went into & spell of aneﬁia which kept me in bed for eight weeks,
Jjust too wesk to even sit up for any length bf time.. When I was

finally able to be arownd again, Mamma srranged for me to go to

Grendma's, with Pappa's consent, but not his approval.

‘ Lovelle was the next to leave., ©She had studied stenography
and bookkeeping.in classes which haq been Inaugurated after I left
and went to Washington, D. C. early in 1908 with a group from the
Unity who had gone into a cooperative furniture venture théré,
Doctor died December 22, 1908, while I was st11l in Home-
wood for I remember Graﬁdpa broke'the news to me when quaﬁe'in
from some outiné, though I do not know how he learned of it so
goon, Shortly thereafter I'Joihed Lovelle in Washington, where I,
. 89. |
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also, took a course in stenography. - [
a . [

Catherine left in the summer of 1909 to marry Lee Chuzrch,

{ with whom she had become acquainted when he spent some time at the ﬁg
island, where she was' then the matron, during a vlisit he made to the §§
Unity, and later Rosalea went to live with them while they were in gg
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Richmond, Va.
Will did not leave permanently until much later, though he

e
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was with those of us who spent several months together in Arcadla
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in a rented house while Lovelle and Jean moved from Jacksonvillé to

Tampa and Jean was becoming established in his new work. Our house- fi {é
‘ .

‘hold consisted of Mamma, Lovelle with Jean, Jr. and Fritz, then a

e
R

baby, Will and, & little later, Catharine, whom I brought with me

from Atlanta aftei spending a few days with Lee and her on the way

back from a vacation trip I had made.
After Doctor's death; a general exodus of the younger people

began, many of them to marry each other, and others to go to their
relatives outslde and then to take positions in work for which they
had been trained in the Unity. MNeny were ready to go into printing

and publishing concerns as printers, intertype operators, eftc.; or

into machine shops, and others to find posltlons as stenogfaphers
and bookkeepers.

Without Doctor's 1e¢ture;tours.to.b:ing in new converts
and his magnetic"péfédnality to hold those élreaﬂy there, along
with the gradusl dying off of the older ones, the membership
dwindled until there were not many left when Hedwig Miohel, a

young German woman who had become interested through a group of

-Koreshan sclentific foliowers in Munich and Bavarig, came from

Germany to Join the Unity. DBelng of an energetic and naturally

cadministrative nature, she eventuaily took over the actual manage-
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ment of the community, though'Laurie was 1ts president until his

q! ldeath.

]
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She was undoubtedly the moving spirit in the decision of
the Board of Directors, mostAof them 1living outside, to turn over
to the State of Florida the properties then left. She visited
Pennsylvanla to see Just howfthis Wés handled in the case of ﬁhe
Harmonlte Society, a similar colony - celibate and communal -
which hed flourishéd_ during the latter part of the last century
and thg first of this, now.édministered and maintained‘by The Penn-
sylvania Historical and Museum Commission as a public historic
monument. At a meeting of the Board in February, 1952, those pres-
ent belng Laurle Bubbett, Hedwig Michel,'Claude J. Rahn, and.Anne
W. Lewls, on motidn of Hedwlg, seconded by Laurie and unanlmously

~carrled, 1t was declded to conﬁgctléhe‘proper staﬁe authorities. with
ga view to having the home grounds similarly pérpetuated as & memor-
iial par'}co '“

Finally, after ten yearé of negotliatling with various organi--
zatiOns, on November 24, 1961, a deed to the Florida State Board of
Parks and'Histofioal Monuments, conveying 130 acres of the home
place on Highway 41 in Estero, 70 acres north and south at fhe
mouth_of~Estero River, and about lOO'acres at Mound Key, was record-
ed at Fort Myers. Thése propertles;, though in three different

. Places, are now known as "Thé Koreshan Sﬁate Park," and thls was
- undoubtedly the best possiblé use ﬁo whioh it could be put.
During the "Florids Boom" period I remember reading an

article on the Unlty in which it was estimated that the value

*_of its land holdings was then between two and three million dol-

3
}

'”jlars, but of course this was based on fantastically inflated
prices and the fact that they included so much beach frontage, then
" at a premium. However, whatever 1its real value, 1t 1s probable
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" that 1f not taken care qf in this way, many sults would have been
filed by the heirs of those who had put thelr all into the Unity
in days gone'by to try to recover shares of what was left, to the
end that it would have béen eaten up by court costs and lawyers'®
fees. Now 1its beauty and history willl be preserved by the State

of Florida for generations yet to come,

" Tampa,; Florida
September, 1966.
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